# THE COMBINING ABILITY OF SINGLE CROSSES AND THEIR REACTION TO MAIZE LETHAL NECROSIS VIRUS

CHERUIYOT SUSAN CHEPCHUMBA

A RESEARCH THESIS PRESENTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY IN THE SCHOOL OF AGRICULTURE AND BIOTECHNOLOGY IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIRMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN PLANT BREEDING AND BIOTECHNOLOGY OF UNIVERSITY OF ELDORET, KENYA.

### DECLARATION

### **DECLARATON BY THE STUDENT**

This research thesis is my original work and has not been submitted anywhere for a degree in any other university.

### Cheruiyot Susan Chepchumba.

### AGR/PGB/03/12

Signature .....

Date.....

### **DECLARATION BY SUPERVISORS**

This research thesis has been submitted for examination with my approval as university supervisor.

### 1. Dr Oliver Kiplagat

Department of Biotechnology University Of Eldoret.

Signature .....

Date .....

## 2. Dr. Philip Leley

KALRO Katumani.

Signature .....

Date				•
------	--	--	--	---

# DEDICATION

This Work is dedicated to My Father HOSEA CHERUIYOT

To My Mother ROSELYNE CHERUIYOT

To My Sisters IRENE CHEROTICH and RUTH CHEPCHIRCHIR

To my brother EMMANUEL KIPKEMBOI

To my nephew VINCENT KIPKORIR

Your affection, Support, Guidance and Prayers made this a success

#### ABSTRACT

Maize is a key staple crop that is grown in most regions of Kenya and it is consumed in various forms by 80% of the population. Among the biotic constraints, maize lethal necrosis disease causes heavy yield losses thus compromising food security in the country. In 2011, Maize lethal Necrosis came about as a destructive disease in Kenya and many parts of Sub-Saharan Africa. MLN was discovered to be as a result of a dependent interaction between Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus and Sugarcane Chlorotic Mottle Virus. MLND affects maize plants at all developmental phases from seedling to maturity. Although MLN has been extensively studied, it is still a persistent menace in many parts of Africa due to various hindrances in developing maize varieties that are tolerant to MLND which includes: assembling of germplasm that is resistant to the disease from various sources, using few sources that are resistant and association of the genotype and location. The trial focused on 120 single cross hybrids set up in an incomplete block design in the two sites. The single crosses were sourced from CIMMYT and KALRO formed through crossing resistant and susceptible inbred lines. Diallel crosses are used to investigate the gene action controlling grain yield. Data collection was on the basis MLN disease score, grain yield, days to pollen shed, days to silking, moisture content, plant height and ear height. The data was analyzed using GENSTAT statistical package (5<sup>th</sup> edition). Generally, the study was able to show that MLN is still a major problem in Kenya with rising incidences and intensity in maize fields of farmers. MLN resistance levels in varieties that are grown locally need to be boosted. Severity scores for the single crosses were variable indicating the existing and potentially useful germplasm for improving MLN resistance in breeding programs. The study identified lines SC-MLN-15-56 in Naivasha and lines SC-MLN-15-3 and SC-MLN-15-23 which had disease severity scores of  $\leq 3.0$  which could be further improved to be used in disseminating resistant gene varieties that are susceptible to MLN. When analysis of variance for diallel cross was exploited both GCA and SCA were highly significant showing that grain yield is as a result of both additive and non-additive effects. GCA effects revealed CML498 as an ideal combiner for most characters and cross combinations involving CML498 as one of its parents recorded desirable SCA effects. Estimates of SCA showed cross CML395×CML505 as the most desirable cross which could be further improved in hybridization programs for developing hybrids that are efficient and MLN resistant. These would be given out as recommendations to program that mainly deal with development of hybrids that are resistant to MLN.

DECLARATION	i
DEDICATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF PLATES	ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	xi
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 World Maize Production	1
1.2 Maize Production in Kenya and Its Constraints	1
1.3 Statement of the Problem	4
1.4 Justification	6
1.5 Broad Objective	8
1.6 Specific Objectives	8
CHAPTER TWO	9
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1 Evolution, Taxonomy and Genetics of Maize	9
2.2 Habitat and Cultivation of Maize	10
2.3 Significance of Maize	10
2.4 Challenges in Maize Production	11
2.5 Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) Disease	12
2.5.1 History of MLN Disease	12
2.5.2 Occurrence and Frequency of Viruses Causing MLN in East Africa	14
2.5.3 Causes of Maize Lethal Necrosis	16
2.5.3.1Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus	16
2.5.3.2 Potyviruses	17
2.5.3.3 Synergism	18
2.5.4 Host Range of MCMV	18
2.5.5 Dissemination of MLN Viruses	20
2.5.6 MLN Disease Symptoms	21
2.5.7 Disease Management for MLN	23

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.5.8 Breeding for MLN Disease Resistance	24
2.5.9 Combining Ability	24
CHAPTER THREE	26
THE RESPONSE OF SINGLE CROSSES TO INOCULATION WITH MAIZE	
LETHAL NECROSIS VIRUS	26
3.1 Introduction	27
3.2 Materials and Methods	28
3.2.1 Experimental Site	28
3.2.2 Materials and Experimental Design	28
3.2.3 Collection and Maintenance of Virus Isolates	28
3.2.4 Artificial Field Inoculation	29
3.3 Data Recording	29
3.3.1 Disease Severity	29
3.3.2 Disease Rating System	30
3.4 Data Analysis	30
3.5 Results	31
3.5.1 Identification of MLN Resistant Single Cross Varieties Grown Under High Di	sease
Pressure	31
CHAPTER FOUR	43
COMBINING ABILITY OF SINGLE CROSSES	43
4.1 Introduction	44
4.2 Materials and Methods	45
4.2.1 Germplasm Sources	45
4.2.2 Experimental Design	45
4.2.3 Data Collection	45
4.2.4 Statistical Analysis	46
4.3 Results	47
CHAPTER FIVE	52
GENERAL DISCUSSION	52
CHAPTER SIX	55
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	55
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	55 55

REFERENCES	57
APPENDICES	72
Appendix I – Data Collection Sheet	72
Appendix II- Disease and Yield (T/HA) Score (Naivasha)	74
Appendix III: Disease Score for Bomet	78
Appendix IV: Combined Analysis Of Variance for Disease Score (Bomet)	86
Appendix V: Combined Analysis for Yield (Bomet)	87
Appendix VI: Combined Analysis for Yield (T/HA) (Naivasha)	88
Appendix VII: Similarity Index/Anti-Plagiarism Report	89

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Sequential Accounts of MCMV and Other Potyviruses
Table 3.1: Summary Statistics of Disease Score For Maize Lethal Necrosis In Each Site31
Table3.2: Summary Statistics for Disease Score Of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease In The Two Sites.
Table 3.3: Means of MLN Scores and Yield of 120 Inbreds Screened In 2015 In Naivash 33
Table 3.4: Means of MLN Disease Score and Yields of 120 Inbreds Screened In 2015 in   Bomet
Table 4.1: Combined Analysis Of Variance For Different Traits In A Diallel Cross Of      Maize
Table 4.2: GCA Estimates Of Effects For Different Traits Of Inbred Lines In Maize48
Table 4.3: SCA Estimates of Effects of Selected Crosses In Maize

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Distribution of MLN in East Africa.	15
Figure 3.1: Distribution of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease In Maize Varieties By	
Phenotynic Ranking	32
Thenotypic Runking	

# LIST OF PLATES

Plate 1.1 : Experimental Field in Naivasha Showing Maize Plants Affected By MLN	
Disease (Source: Susan Cheruiyot, 2015)	4
Plate 1.2: Maize Plants Affected By MLND in Bomet Experimental Site (Source: Susa Cheruiyot, 2015).	n 5
Plate 2.1: MLN Disease Symptoms: (Plate 1A) Chlorosis on Leaves, (Plate 1B) Mottlin and Necrosis of Leaves (Plate 1C) Necrosis Leading To Plant Death, (Plate 1D)	ng )
Small Cobs that have Minimal or No Grains	23

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CIMMYT	-	International Centre for Maize and Wheat Improvement	
ELISA	-	Enzyme Linked Immune-Sorbent Assay	
FAO	-	Food and Agricultural Organization.	
KALRO	-	Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization	
MCDV	-	Maize Chlorotic Dwarf Virus	
MCMV	-	Maize Chlorotic Maize Virus	
MDMV	-	Maize Dwarf Mosaic Virus	
MLN	-	Maize Lethal Necrosis	
SCMV	-	Sugar Cane Mosaic Virus	
WSMV	-	Wheat Streak Mosaic Virus	

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am grateful to the Lord Almighty for giving me strength and good health and for enabling me to complete this .Glory be to his name.

My gratitude also goes to my supervisors, Dr. Oliver Kiplagat and Dr. Philip Leley for their constant advice, criticisms, and support from the initial stages of this study to the final copy. I also appreciate Dr. Pkania for helping out in coming up with a final draft of this work.

I appreciate the Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA) for giving out funds to support this work and Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research for allowing me the use of their research facilities.

I would like to acknowledge one Mr. Njoroge of KALRO Muguga, for being there during the research stage of this work, for being present at the sowing and harvesting season and data collection, for your prayers and encouragement, you made this thesis become a reality. I also thank my friend Benard Bii for standing with me through it all and helping me with data management, I am eternally grateful.

I appreciate my classmates for the good interaction and friendship during our academic journey together.

Finally, I express sincere thanks to my family for their immense concern, love, patience, encouragement and prayers during this study.

#### THANK YOU ALL

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 World Maize Production**

Maize (*Zea mays* L.) is one the important cereal crops and is places third in terms of production worldwide after wheat and rice (FAO, 2017)). In most countries in the world, maize is the only source of calories and protein for the poor and mostly used during weaning of infants. In many parts of Africa, corn is among the main essential food stuffs serving as a source of daily food and earnings to millions of small scale farmers (Zhang et al., 2012). About 600 million people eat on average 40 kg of maize per year (an increase of about 30% since 1961), reaching 80–141kg in Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, South Africa, Zambia and Zimbabwe (Lumpkin and Armstrong, 2009). Maize is grown in the whole African continent as a major subsistence crop and in most countries maize adds up to about 56% of the entire crops harvested for food and approximately 30-60% of the total energy intake (Tefera et al., 2011).

#### **1.2 Maize Production in Kenya and Its Constraints**

Maize is mainly grown for food in the country (Muriithi and Mutinda, 2001), a widely consumed cereal by over 90% of the population (Muiru, 2008). A shortage of the commodity often leads to hunger. The key areas that produce maize lie in the Rift Valley region and include; Trans-Nzoia and Uasin- Gishu counties, although the cultivation is widespread. The bulk of the maize produced is consumed at household level. Kenya leads in maize consumption among East African countries with an annual consumption of 105 kg (Muiru, 2008) which tis about 30-42 bags annually. Among the crops grown in Kenya,

Maize production covers approximately29% of the entire crops grown by small scale farmers (Sibhatu and Qaim, 2017).

Rainfall failure or erratic rains is the principal cause of low yields since maize is produced mainly under rain fed conditions (Nyoro et al., 2004). In most parts of Kenya, smallholder farmers who cultivate maize are lack resources and can hardly get the farm inputs necessary for farming such as certified seeds. High costs and inadequate supply of certified seeds has led to under-utilization of improved germplasm resulting in low productivity (Kiptanui, 2013). Low soil fertility and weeds infestation also cause significant maize yield decline being estimated at 30-100% annually (Manyong et al., 2007; Karaya et al., 2012).

Disease causing pests which affect maize crop during cultivation and storage are the major biotic constraint limiting maize production in the country (Pingali and Pandey, 2001). Among the field pests, stem borers approximately lead to annual yield losses of about 12 to 15% while the larger grain borer may result in 100% yield loss in storage (Tefera et al., 2011). Foliar diseases range from fungal, bacterial and viral and include maize rust, maize smut, northern leaf blight (NLB), ear rots, gray leaf spots (GLS), maize streak disease and Maize Lethal Necrosis that was recently discovered (Mwangi, 1998, Wangai et al., 2012). In storage, infection of maize by fungi results in production of toxins such as aflatoxins which result in deaths when infected grains are consumed (Njuguna et al., 2001).

The disease is a threat to corn (*Zea mays*) cultivation in many regions (Mahuku et al., 2015a; Wangai et al., 2012; Adams et al., 2013; Adams et al., 2014; Lukanda et al., 2014; Mahuku et al., 2015b). MLN is due to a synergistic interaction between Maize chlorotic

mottle virus (MCMV) and any other virus in the potyvirus group including; Wheat streak mosaic virus (WSMV), Maize dwarf mosaic virus (MDMV) and Sugarcane mosaic virus (SCMV) (Niblett and Claflin, 1978; Uyemoto et al., 1980). In East Africa the primary cause of the disease is a combined infection with Maize chlorotic mottle virus and Sugarcane mosaic virus (Wangai et al., 2012; Adams et al., 2014; Lukanda et al., 2014; Mahuku et al., 2015). MLN causes stunted plant growth, premature death or aging, male sterility and failure to tassel, malformed ears or lack of ear formation, chlorotic mottling from the plant base, leaf necrosis from the margins to the midrib and rotten or minute maize cobs that hve fewer or no seeds at all (Niblett and Claflin, 1978; Wangai et al., 2012). This suite of symptoms leads to MLN being a devastating disease.

MLN is a disaster for sectors that rely on maize in Africa. Isabirye and Rwomushana (2015) projected an increase of incidence and distribution to other regions of East and Central Africa having the same weather conditions to the current hotspots and a significant southward movement to Southern African countries like Mozambique, Malawi, Angola, Namibia, Zimbabwe and Madagascar which are among the biggest maize producers (FAOSTAT, 2017). This threat of potential spread is the justification for drastic measures to find a solution to MLN. To safeguard maize production in East Africa and Sub-Saharan region, maize breeders have to come up with germplasm that is resistant to MLND.



Plate 1.1 : Experimental Field in Naivasha Showing Maize Plants Affected By MLN Disease (Source: Author, 2015).

#### **1.3 Statement of the Problem**

MLN is a threat to people's livelihoods, food security, and nutritional well-being. The disease is also a threat to the economic stability of countries in Africa. MLN is an issue for the sectors that produce maize in Kenya, East Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa. The magnitude of yield loss associated with the disease makes developing cultivars with disease resistance to be used by farmers in the region of great importance. In Kenya, MLN caused an estimated loss of \$187 million equivalent to \$364/ton (De Groote et al., 2016). The farmers are affected heavily because of their complete reliance on the crop for food production and income. Farmers in MLN areas have experienced a significant decrease in yield from 2011-2014 since when MLN was first reported in 2010 (Makone et al., 2014).



Plate 1.1: Maize Plants Affected By MLND in Bomet Experimental Site (Source: Author, 2015).

For a long time, the national maize production has not been in equilibrium with consumption rates. Kenya has been buying maize from Tanzania and Uganda and from as far as USA, South Africa and Malawi so as to reduce the gap between supply and demand of maize (Nyoro et al., 2004). The low maize yields are due to disease and pests, among other factors. There are various disease causing fungi, bacteria, nematodes, and viruses found in the country that infest on maize maize (Njuguna et al., 2001). Infection of maize by these diseases cause high yield losses (up to 100%) leading to a drop in food production and income from agricultural production. In the recent years, no extensive study has been undertaken to show the occurrence, spread and the prevalence of maize

lethal necrosis in the areas that cultivate maize, the last one having been done over a decade ago (Mwangi, 1998). There are many genotypes that have been introduced in the country and are not yet evaluated on how they react to the maize lethal necrosis disease. Changes in climate may also have led to creation of conditions conducive for the disease, resulting in dissemination of diseases to areas that were not affected before, and therefore changes in occurrence and distribution. New diseases that may not have been reported previously may have emerged, creating the need to screen the available maize germplasm for their reaction to these new diseases.

#### **1.4 Justification**

For maize seed business to grow in Kenya and the region, this disease must be controlled. As MLN is due to a dependent association of MCMV and viruses found in the potyvirus family (Maize dwarf mosaic virus (MDMV), Sugar cane mosaic virus (SCMV), Wheat streak mosaic virus (WSMV), studies is required to find out which of the Potyviruses are available in locations that disease occurs. Presently, SCMV has been examined, but there could be other group of viruses responsible for causing MLND. The rapid spread of the disease made farmers, government, research institutions like CIMMYT and KARI, research institutes in the US among others, as well as seed companies eager to find a solution to the above problem (CIMMYT, 2018).

Weather changes especially conditions of drought and rising temperatures is suitable for the growth and increasing number of vectors that disseminate MLN. This has been a major challenge to scientists who are trying to come up with a solution to MLND (Wangai et al., 2012). The emergence of the Maize Lethal Necrotic epidemic especially major maize farming areas is a serious problem to countries food security. A survey was done in East African countries to study the distribution of MLN causing viruses suggested up to 94% incidence in randomly selected and symptomatic plants (Mahuku et al., 2015). Tanzanian samples collected at Arusha and Mwanza had 60% to 69% incidence with both viruses detected (Mahuku et al., 2015). The survey indicated wide distribution and high frequency of MLN viruses in East and Central Africa emphasizing the urgency of controlling MLN in the region.

In contrast to vector control methods which may require farmers to purchase pesticides for chemical control, use of MLN tolerant varieties is considered an effective way to manage diseases since it requires less input and hence is more cost effective and environmentally sustainable (Zambrano et al., 2014). This is especially true for small holder farmers in Sub Saharan Africa with little or insufficient capital to acquire chemicals for vector control.

Potyviruses are endemic to East Africa and were observed to cause crop loss of 18% to 46% (Louie, 1980). The introduction of MCMV and co-infection of maize with the endemic potyviruses to cause MLN represents a new threat to maize cultivation in countries in the African continent (Wangai et al., 2012). There is a great need come up with MLN resistance sources, mapping of genomic regions with MLN resistance and introgression of resistance genes into widely used susceptible inbred lines and hybrids in East Africa (Semagn et al., 2014).

Efforts to control MLN through resistance breeding have begun in individual East African countries and among international organizations such as International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT). Together, the Kenya Agriculture and Livestock research Organization (KALRO) and CIMMYT have evaluated 25,000 accessions for MLN resistance (Semagn et al., 2014). Majority of the evaluated lines have mild to moderate resistance (Semagn et al., 2014). The concept on the combining ability of the parents that are suitable is important for development of varieties that are adapted to many locations. The exploitation of the parental germplasm for its combining ability is able to show us what gene action is involved and helps in selection of parental lines that are superior and inbred lines having high specific combining ability.

The goal of the study was to evaluate combining abilities of single crosses and their reaction to MLN disease in Bomet and Naivasha under natural and artificial inoculation respectively. The project aimed to fill the knowledge gap concerning combining abilities of single crosses for control of MLN. In addition, the experimental design will clarify how cultural practices such as planting date may contribute to controlling of MLN in Kenya. Finally the study will develop germplasm which can be further improved and utilized in breeding programs to come up with varieties that are resistant.

#### **1.5 Broad Objective**

To determine the combining ability of single crosses and their reactions to maize lethal necrosis disease.

#### **1.6 Specific Objectives**

The specific objectives are;

- i. To identify the response of single cross varieties to MLN disease grown under high disease pressure.
- To determine the combining ability of single cross varieties with potential use in maize improvement against MLND.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Evolution, Taxonomy and Genetics of Maize

Scientists believe that maize a domesticated variant of an earlier ancestral plant called teosinte (*zea mexicana*) (Galinat 1988).Domestication of maize is thought to have begun approximately 6000 years ago as suggested by pre-historical records and genetic analysis and was later introduced into Africa by Portuguese travelling from America to the west coast of Africa Matsuoka et al., 2002).

Maize (*Zea Mays*) is an annual plant that is found in the grass family (Gramineae) together with plants such as sugarcane, rye, barley, sorghum and wheat. It has an extensive fibrous system with the female (ear) and male (tassel) on separate places on the plant. (FAO, 1992). The female part of the plant is the cob or ear while the silks which are usually found along the top of the cob are long stigmas that grow from an egg found on the cob. The tassel is the male part of the plant that produces pollen and is found at the top of the plant which is approximately 30cm long and occurs in 8-16 rows (Hitchcock and Chase, 1971).

Pollination in maize takes place by wind which transfers tiny pollen grains to the silk either of the same plant or a different plant where they move down inside the silk to fertilize an egg which then develops to a kernel. Pollen grains that are shed are able to germinate for 10-30 minutes but under suitable environmental conditions they can retain their ability to germinate for a longer period of time (Coe, Nueffer & Hoisington, 1988)

#### 2.2 Habitat and Cultivation of Maize

Maize crop is able to thrive in different areas with different climatic conditions; it can either be cultivated as an arid land or under irrigation (Agbonifo & Olufolaji, 2012). Maize is mainly planted at altitudes higher than 3000m and rainfall levels of about 250-5000mm per year (Twumasi-Afriyie et al., 2001). Generally maize is able to tolerate low water levels as compared to any other crop sorghum included (Beckingham, 2007). Maize is also able to grow in a diverse environment as compared to any other crop. Maize crop prefers warm soil temperatures ( $\geq$ 10) (OMAF, 1994). Higher temperatures may cause physiologic damage and reduced rates of photosynthesis for the crop. The crop also performs best in soils rich in essential nutrients with good drainage and PH levels of 5.5-7.0.

#### 2.3 Significance of Maize

In many parts of Africa, the crop is one of the most prominent and is cultivated in about 2.5 million hectares of land mainly by small holder farmers who produce million tonnes of grain (FAOSTAT, 2017). Maize constitutes 34% of all cereal crops and 8% of all the crops grown in the country. Maize an important food crop in Africa and over 80% of the cereal grown in this area is for consumption, while in Africa approximately 94% of the maize gown is used as food (Shiferaw et al., 2011).

Maize is a main crop grown as food in many parts of Africa and it constitutes a major section of diet to many people in this area. 15 million hectares is used to plant maize in this region in all major growing areas at about 2500 m above sea level (asl) (Twumasi-Afriyie et al., 2001). The crop constitutes a major part of the meals prepared by over 44 million people in Kenya. Over 70% of maize is produced for consumption mainly as

maize flour which makes up the main source of energy in the Kenyan diet. It is prepared as porridge for breakfast and stiff porridge (ugali) for lunch and dinner. Small holder farmers also depend on selling their maize surplus maize meet their basic needs. Maize also contributes to the country's economy through export earning; Kenya is named among the top 25 maize producers worldwide (FAO, 2015; http://www.fao.org/3/a-at481e.pdf; URL verified, 19/08/2015).

In Kenya, maize crop is cultivated in approximately two million hectares of land accounting for 3.6 metric tonnes in terms of production (MoA, 2013). Maize is grown in large scale more than the other cereals; wheat and rice but when it comes to production maize come in third with rice being first and wheat second. (MoA, 2013).

#### 2.4 Challenges in Maize Production

Maize is faced by numerous problems during its cultivation and has not been produced extensively in the country as compared to wheat and rice. In areas having high potential, mainly the highlands, maize cultivation is at 6t/ha while in other areas production is at 1.6t/ha (FAOSTAT, 2010). Researchers have to put more effort so as to ensure a rise in maize production in the country (De Groote et al., 2005), since stagnation in planting maize is a common scenario in many parts of the country (Mbithi & Van Huylenbroeck, 2000, Ngoune et al., 2018). In 2012, the ministry of Agriculture in Kenya named the major factors that affect growing of maize as the following: maize lethal necrosis, maize streak virus, head smut, maize stem borers and Striga weed. Other factors include the using low quality seeds, increased precipitation during harvest that leads to rotting of grains and no available buyers for their produce (MoA, 2013). The study is on the maize lethal necrosis disease.

#### 2.5 Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) Disease

The disease as a result of infection of maize crop with MCMV in association with any other virus that infects cereals in the family Potyviridae such as SCMV, MDMV or WSM (Niblett and Claflin, 1978; Uyemoto, Bockelman and Clafin, 1980, Family, 2012)). Viruses foundin other families, including Maize rayado fino virus (MRFV), family Tymoviridae, genus Marafivirus, Maize chlorotic dwarf virus (MCDV), family Secoviridae, genus Wakavirus and Maize mosaic virus (MMV), family Rhabdoviridae, genus Nucleorhabdovirus, can also result to interactions in association with MCMV. Non-living components such as arid conditions, poorly drained soils and high salinity also increases infection by MCMV to result to MLND (Redinbaugh and Zambrano, 2014).

#### 2.5.1 History of MLN Disease

The virus MCMV is classified in the genus Machlomovirus in the family Tombusviridae. The virus was first discovered in maize in Peru (Castillo and Hebert, 1974) and later in the United States in Kansas associated with either MDMV or WSMV causing MLN disease (Niblett and Clafin, 1978; Uyemoto et al., 1980; Jiang, Wilkinson and Berry, 1990). It then moved to Nebraska (Doupnik, 1979, Fatma et al., 2016)). In USA, MCMV has not spread widely with reports in only three states of Kansas, Nebraska and in 1992 MCMV was reported in Hawaii (Jiang, Meinke, Wright, Wilkinson and Campbell, 1922). There are at about two strains of MCMV that are hereditary distinct and found in two different geographical locations, MCMV- P (Peru) and MCMV- K (Kansas) (Nyvall, 1999). In China it was discovered together with SCMV (Xie et al., 2011) and In East Africa MCMV was first reported in Kenya in combination with SCMV (Wangai et al., 2012, Adams et al., 2017).

Location	Year first reported	Potyvirus	Reference
Peru	1973	NR	Castilo & Herbert,
			1974
United States,	1976	WSMV/MDMV	Niblett & Claflin,
mainland			1978
Argentina	1982	NR	Teyssandier et al.,
			1981
Thailand	1982	NR	Klingkong
			&subabutra,1982
United States,	1992	MDMV	Jiang et al., 1992
Hawaii			
Colombia	1999	NR	Morales et al., 1999
China	2011	SCMV	Xie et al., 2011
Kenya	2012	SCMV	Wangai et al., 2012
Rwanda	2013	SCMV	Adams et al., 2014
DRC	2013	SCMV	Lukanda et al., 2014
Taiwan	2014	SCMV	Deng et al., 2014
Ethiopia	2015	SCMV	Mahuku et al., 2015

Table 2.1: Sequential Accounts of MCMV and Other Potyviruses.

Potyviruses associated MCMV report: NR=not reported: DRC= Democratic Republic of Congo; (source: Mahuku et al., 2015).

2.5.2 Occurrence and Frequency of Viruses Causing MLN in East Africa

In 2012-2014, a study to find out the spread of MCMV and SCMV was done on maize growing areas in East Africa. The survey was done on the basis of monitoring symptoms and diagnostic tests to assess if the virus is present in leaves using ELISA. (Jones et al., 2011). Occurrence of SCMV was lower as compared to MCMV incidence. In the western parts of Kenya, the incidence of MCMV increased in the year 2013-2014 which indicated rise in disease pressure. This was attributed to lack of skills in identifying MLND symptoms and lack of awareness about the disease by farmers. In Uganda, in the year 2013, symptomatic plants were collected and about 60% of the samples collected showed infection by MCMV, 23% were SCMV infected. Majority of the samples showed infection by both MCMV and SCMV with very few samples showing infection by Maize Streak Virus (MSV). In Tanzania (Arusha and Mwanza Districts), 60% of samples collected were infected with MCMV and 69% showed infection by SCMV, with majority of the plants collected having been virus infected.

In 2013-2014, a study was done in the main areas that grow maize in the country. Results indicate that out of the 2467 samples selected randomly, 60% of them were positive for MCMV and 28% were infected by SCMV and very few samples showing infection by SCMV only. In previous studies, MCMV was found in 40-80% of plants sampled in Kivu province of Democratic Republic of Congo (Lukanda et al., 2014).

Study findings show a wide spread of MCMV in East and Central Africa. Infestation prevalence was high in all those countries. The high occurrence of MCMV infection indicates that disease development can be caused by MCMV infection alone. It is also

possible that SCMV isolates that have not been detected, abiotic factors and other viruses makes the study of MLN in East Africa complicated. Surveys should be carried out in other Sub-Saharan Africa countries especially in areas where MLN/MCMV has not been suspected in order to be able to find out if MCMV is present or how far it has spread and to know other factors or disease causing organisms contribute to disease development. The information obtained will be very important in coming up with procedures on how to contain the disease and also in production of virus free germplasm.



#### (Source: FAOSTAT 2014).

Figure 2.1: Distribution of MLN in East Africa.

#### 2.5.3 Causes of Maize Lethal Necrosis

MLN is as a result of a combined interaction of MCMV and any virus in the potyviridae group such as SCMV, MDMV and WSMV (Niblett and Claflin, 1978). In East Africa, although other members of the potyvirus were reported (Louie, 1980), MLN is said to be due to a combined infection of MCMV and SCMV (Wangai et al., 2012).

#### 2.5.3.1Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus

The virus is found in the Tombusviridae family and genus Machlomovirus. MCMV has 30 nm icosahedral virions enclosing a 4.4 kb an RNA genome (Scheets, 2004). The virus has six reading frames which overlap each other and are encoded by the viral genome, five of which are needed by the virus for division and movement within the plant. The virus is able to cause various symptoms which depend on: the stage of development the plant is at when the virus attacks it and the weather conditions at that time. Symptoms include: deformed and incompletely filled ears, severe mosaic and stunting, yellowing and necrosis, mild chlorotic mottling and premature death of the maize plant. In infections that occur naturally, yield loss of between 10-15% has been reported and up to 59% in maize plots inoculated artificially (Uyemoto et al., 1981).

The natural host of MCMV is the maize plant. Infection of other members of the Gramineae (Poaceae) with mechanical transmission has occurred. Recent studies have shown the presence of the virus in sugarcane (Wang et al., 2014) and sorghum (Huang et al., 2016). No dicotyledonous species has been found to be affected by the virus, including experiments with artificial transmission (Bockelman, Claflin and Uyemoto, 1982; Castillo & Hebert, 1974; Niblett and Claflin, 1978). The virus is spread by vectors which include chrysomelid beetles (Nault et al., 1978), corn thrips, corn root worm, and

corn flea beetle (Canabas et al., 2011). In East Africa, the commonly identified vector is maize thrips (*Frankliniella williamsi*) (Wangai et al., 2012; Mahuku et al., 2015).

#### 2.5.3.2 Potyviruses

Potyviruses (genus Potyvirus; family Potyviridae) are RNA viruses disseminated by aphids with non-enveloped flexious virions having an average diameter of 10-17 nm and length of 720 to 850 nm. Potyviruses consists of 30% plant infecting viruses (Riechmann et al., 1992). Potyviruses are the most destructive virus group in crops (Shunkla et al., 1994, Revers and Garcia, 2015) causing diseases major economic importance worldwide (Kuntze, 1995; Shunkla et a.l, 1994; Mahuku et al., 2015). Maize infecting potyviruses include SCMV (Abbot & Tipet, 1966), MDMV (Williams and Alexander, 1965; Louie and Knoke, 1975), Johnson grass mosaic virus (JGMV), Sorghum mosaic virus (SrMV) (Shunkla, 1989) and Zea mosaic virus (ZeMV) (Seifers., et al, 2000). The related WSMV is classified in the genus Tritimovirus but for simplicity has been included with the potyviruses because of similarities in the resistance responses of maize to the virus.

Portyviruses were first identified in East Africa 1973 (Louie, 1980). SCMV, Maize streak virus (MSV) and Maize mosaic virus (MMV) were reported in samples collected from 28 districts in 8 surveyed provinces in Kenya (Louie, 1980). SCMV was reported in sugarcane, maize and sorghum. SCMV was found in 15.2% of sampled fields in Nyanza and 15.8% of sampled fields the Rift valley province and 19.6% in Western provinces of Kenya (Louie, 1980). These are areas where the initialcase of MLN was reported in Kenya by Wangai et al (2012).

#### 2.5.3.3 Synergism

MCMV acts in synergism with any cereal potyvirus to cause a disease with more damaging impacts (Niblett and Claflin, 1978; Uyemoto, Bockelman and Claflin, 1980; Uyemoto et al., 1981). In Hawaii, MMV and MCMV were observed to cause CLN (Nelson et al., 2011). MLN is linked to either MCMV or SCMV in East Africa.

When a potyvirus is present in aplant, it builds up MCMV particles concentration 5-10 times (Goldberg and Brakke, 1987; Scheets 1998). This increase in concentration is termed unilateral synergism and describes a phenomenon where the presence of one virus increases the concentration of the co-infecting virus resulting to more severe symptoms than when an individual virus infects alone (Goldberg and Brakke, 1987; Scheets 1998). The observed rise in concentration of MCMV in a plant infected by both MCMV and SCMV compared to the plant infected by MCMV alone is hypothesized to be due to the ability of the potyvirus to suppress regulatory systems that would normally limit MCMV concentrations in a cell allowing easy transmission of the MCMV and increasing the symptom severity (Goldberg and Brakke, 1987).

#### 2.5.4 Host Range of MCMV

MCMV was known to infect maize only (Scheets 2004), later it was found also in sugar cane (Wang et al., 2014) and finger millet (Eleusine coracana) (Kusia et al., 2015). Dicots are not infected by the virus, but it has a variety of hosts that includes at least 19 grass species (Bockelman et al., 1982). An experiment was done to investigate non-maize species that could act as hosts of MCMV in East Africa. (Redinbaugh et al., 2014). Fourteen species of grass that commonly grows in maize plantations were inoculated with extracts from maize leaves infected with MCMV by leaf rubbing. The leaves that were not inoculated were checked to see if the virus is present using ELISA and Reverse Transcriptase – PCR at 7-10 weeks after inoculation.

About twelve species tolerated MCMV, and did not show any characteristics of being infected by MCMV as shown by ELISA and RT-PCR: Bermuda grass (*Cynodon dactylon*), Napier grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*), Common wild oat (*Avena fatua*), Pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*), Brome grass (*Bromus inermis*), Sand love grass (*Eragrostis trichodes*), Wheatgrass (*Agropyron repens*), barnyard grass (*Echinochloa crus-galli*), Smooth crabgrass (*Digitaria ischaemum*), Nut grass (*Cyperus esculentus*), wheat (*Triticum aestivum*.), and oat (*Avena fatua*), Pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*), Sand love grass (*Eragrostis trichodes*), Wheatgrass (*Agropyron repens*), barnyard grass (*Cyperus esculentus*), wheat (*Triticum aestivum*.), and oat (*Avena fatua*), Pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*), Brome grass (*Bromus inermis*), Sand love grass (*Eragrostis trichodes*), Wheatgrass (*Agropyron repens*), barnyard grass (*Eragrostis trichodes*), Wheatgrass (*Digitaria ischaemum*), Nut grass (*Cyperus esculentus*), wheat (*Triticum aestivum*.), barnyard grass (*Echinochloa crus-galli*), Smooth crabgrass (*Digitaria ischaemum*), Nut grass (*Cyperus esculentus*), wheat (*Triticum aestivum*), and oat (*Avena fatua*), Pearl or (*Triticum aestivum*), and oat (*Avena fatua*).

Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) was discovered as a highly resistant host of MCMV.

Proso millet (*Panicummili aceum*) showed mild symptoms while finger millet and Foxtail millet (*Setaria italica*) exhibited strong symptoms after inoculation with the virus; MCMV was found in all three species by ELISA and RT-PCR. Symptomatic, the samples of finger millet, sorghum, sugarcane, Napier grass, Kikuyu grass (*Pennisetum clandestinium*) collected in Uganda and Kenya tested positive for MCMV by ELISA.

These results show the possibility of MCMV could have a vast range of potential alternative hosts and which agrees with earlier reports by Bockelman and co-workers (1982). However, maize itself could be a habitat for MLN causing viruses since it is

planted all year round in most areas of eastern Africa. In addition, grasses should be analyzed further; in particular those that act as host of MCMV in experiments and those growing in and around maize fields needs to be done. Insect vectors also have to be analyzed to establish their ability to transmit MCMV from alternative hosts to maize.

#### 2.5.5 Dissemination of MLN Viruses

MLN viruses affect maize plants at any stage; either as a seed or when mature. The MLN virus, the vector (usually insect vectors), and the host plant must combine in a suitable environment for infection to take place (Redinbaugh & Zambrano, 2014).

MCMV transmission can be mechanical through insect vectors such as maize thrips, maize rootworms, leaf beetles and leaf hoppers (Nault et al., 1978). The beetles are found mainly in the family Chrysomelidae include: the cereal leaf beetle (*Oulema melanopa*), the corn flea beetle (*Chaetocnema pulicaria*), the flea beetle (*Systena frontalis*), the Japanese beetle (*Popillia japonica*) (Nault et al., 1978).

Corn thrips species (*Frankliniella williamsi*) was found to spread MCMV in a semipersistent manner (Cabanas, Watanabe, Higashi, & Bressan, 2013). The insects pass MCMV after acquiring them for three hours; latent period is not evident with both young and adult stages having the ability to pass the virus for about 6 days post acquiring them (Cabanas et al., 2013). The vectors responsible for MCMV in Africa still unknown, although thrips have been observed in all maize plantations, including farms infested with MCMV and MLN. It is possible that thrips and other vectors could be involved in MCMV spread within and between fields in the affected countries in Africa. Reports of corn thrips were first mentioned in East Africa in 2009 (Moritz, Brandt, Triapitsyn and Subramanian, 2013), and survey that followed found them in various locations in Kenya, Uganda and DRC. Corn thrips has also been seen on many other plants such as baby corn, rice, sorghum and wheat, and were also regularly noted on onions (Moritz et al., 2013).

Dissemination of MCMV by seed is also possible although it occurs at very low rates (Jensen, Wysong, Ball & Higley, 1991). However, even at low rate, seed transmission can still cause disease because maize is only grown by means of seed and it leads to transfer of virus into new areas through seed (Mahuku et al., 2014). Soil and plant debris also is involved in the spread of the virus as the virus has the ability to live in plant debris (Nyvall, 1999). Continuous maize cultivation leads to an increase rate of the virus and vectors. SCMV is mainly transmitted by aphid vectors.

#### 2.5.6 MLN Disease Symptoms

When MCMV infects a maize plant, it develops various symptoms depending on factors such as prevailing environmental conditions, plant age at infection time, variety of the plant, part of the plant infected and number of viruses that have infected the plant. (Wangai et al., 2012). Common symptoms range from chlorotic mottling of young leaves and extend towards the leaf tips, necrosis of leaf margins that extends to the midrib and eventually drying of the entire leaf, dead heart symptoms, dwarfing, pre-mature aging of plants and death of the plant (Uyemoto et al., 1980, 1981, Wangai et al., 2012).





Plate 2.1: MLN Disease Symptoms: (Plate 1A) Chlorosis on Leaves, (Plate 1B) mottling and Necrosis of Leaves (Plate 1C) Necrosis Leading To Plant Death, (Plate 1D) Small Cobs that have Minimal or No Grains. (Author, 2015)

#### 2.5.7 Disease Management for MLN

To be able to control MLND, manage efforts should be directed towards the vector, virus and a host that is not tolerant which must combine together in a suitable environment for disease to occur. The most suitable way to control MLN is to use a combined approach by integrating cultural practices together with vector control using chemical or biological control and use of varieties that are resistant to the disease. MCMV has been controlled in Hawaii by use of cultural practices with chemical control and use of species tolerant to the disease (Nelson, Brewbaker and Hu, 2011). Cultural practices used include rotation of maze for a period of about two seasons, with crops like potatoes, cassava, beans, onions and garlic. Crop rotation was found useful in parts of U.S.A in minimizing the rates of occurrence of MCMV (Phillips et al., 1982). Using seed that is certified control of weeds and destroying of infected material from the field also controls disease causing and vector populations (Fatma et al., 2016). Growing of maize is required at the start of the main rainy season, with use of fertilizer to increase vigor of the plant.

To be able to come up with commercial seed that is free from virus, cultural practices and control of vectors is necessary. However this method is not used by many small scale maize farmers in many parts of eastern Africa, where regular planting of maize is a common norm, and farmers don't have knowledge and resources necessary for vector control and cultural management practices (Mahuku et al., 2015).

A sustainable method for MLND control is development of crops that are resistant to the virus then transfer of required genes into plants with stable and best agronomical characteristics (Nelson et al., 2011).

#### 2.5.8 Breeding for MLN Disease Resistance

Efforts to come up with varieties that are resistant to MLN have been going on. During the old times, breeding used to involve mainly selection and backcross methods so as to pass resistant genes to germplasm in Africa (Storey and Howland, 1967). New techniques such as marker assisted selection are now being used in plant breeding to develop resistance without having an effect on yield (Pixley et al., 2006).

In Kenya, there are central screening stations where several lines are being screened for their resistance to or tolerance to MLND. Unfortunately, many temperate inbred and hybrid lines are showing high levels of susceptibility to the viruses (Wangai et al., 2012). Further reports by CYMMIT under 'CIMMYT Global Maize Program' on 2013 screening indicated that 122 of the screened 124 varieties had extremely high levels of susceptibility with additional screening of 62000 lines showing up to 90 % susceptibility (CYMMIT, 2018).As of 2017, only nine highly tolerant varieties namely Bazooka (UH5354), H12ML, H13ML, Meru HB607, WE5135, WE5136, WE5138, WE5139 and WE5140had been identified (CYMMIT, 2018; Makumbi and Wangai, 2012)

#### **2.5.9** Combining Ability

The concept on better performance of parental lines is very important when coming up with varieties that can be grown in various climatic zones. The exploitation of combining abilities of parental germplasm shows what gene actions is involved and helps in the selection of parental lines showing high general combining ability and a high specific
combining ability for the hybrids. General combining ability (GCA) is how a genotype performs in a series of other hybrids while specific combining ability (SCA) refers to the better performance of a selected hybrid compared to other hybrids that come up as result of crossing different genotypes (Sprague and Tatum, 1942). GCA variance linked mainly with the additive part while SCA variance is related to the non-additive effects of genes which are mainly dominance and epistatic deviations (Hallauer and Miranda, 1988). The importance of GCA variance, additive variation indicates trait selection will be possible. Deviations of General Combining Ability can be positive or negative (Kearsey and Pooni, 1996). A deviation that is positive can either be favorable or unfavorable, but this depends on the character that is being selected. For example, positive GCA for yield is desirable as this shows high yielding variety. On the contrast, positive high values on any disease ratings would not be desirable. Negative GCA values on the anthesis date are required for selection of varieties that mature early. In addition, GCA and SCA effects stability is important in coming up with parental lines and subsequent hybrids that are stable in different environments (Dehghanpour and Ehdaie, 2013).

The effects of GCA and SCA have been identified for various agronomic characters in maize such as grain yield and hence the gene action that controls majority of the complex traits cannot be generalized. The effect of additive effects has been seen to determine resistance to several maize diseases including ear rots, NLB, GLS, PLS, common rust, head smut and MSV (Vivek et al., 2010). However, the significance of non-additive effects cannot be ignored since in cases where two parents show resistance that is average, they could pass the above average resistance when crossed with each other (Vivek et al., 2010).

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

# THE RESPONSE OF SINGLE CROSSES TO INOCULATION WITH MAIZE LETHAL NECROSIS VIRUS.

#### Abstract

Majority of the small scale farmers in Kenya depend on subsistence farming with maize being the most important food and cash crop. A study was done in Naivasha and Bomet to screen for single crosses that are resistant to MLN grown under high disease pressure. Data collection was based on grain yield, disease severity and plant stand count. MLN disease intensity and MLN disease occurrence was based on monitoring of symptoms and carrying out diagnostic tests. Data on disease incidence and severity was recorded at 3 weeks interval after planting until the grain was fully filled in the cobs. GENSTAT (5<sup>th</sup> edition) was used in data analysis. There was a significant difference on disease incidence and severity in the two areas studied. Infection was observed on all the genotypes studied in both locations but at varying levels. Naivasha showed highest disease occurrence at approximately above 40% while Bomet had the least occurrence. In Naivasha, the top performing line was SC-MLN-15-56 with a score of 2.3 while the most susceptible lines were: SC-MLN-15-1, SC-MLN-15-77, SC-MLN-15-94 and SC-MLN-15-101. In Bomet, the top performing line was SC-MLN-15-3 while the most susceptible genotypes were: SC-MLN-15-1, SC-MLN-15-35 and SC-MLN-15-59. MLN is still a major problem facing the maize growing sector in Kenya and many parts of Africa. Many of the commercial varieties are susceptible to MLND. More efforts have to be put in come up with varieties that are resistant to the disease and incorporate farmer desired

characteristics. The study will contribute useful germplasm that could be suitable for breeding for resistance to MLND.

# **3.1 Introduction**

Maize is a significant crop planted for subsistence in Kenya although it is now used as a source of fodder (Murdoch et al., 2013). As a result, large amounts are needed to feed the population that is increasing daily and also as food for livestock. There little increase in production level nationwide, but that is because of expansion of areas used for maize cultivation some of which are not suitable for agricultural production (Olwade & Smale 2012). Production countrywide however is still low at 1-2t/ ha against a potential of 6t/ha (Jaetzold et al., 2006). This is due to poor soils, harsh weather conditions, pest and diseases (MOA, 2013). Depletion of the ozone layers and greenhouse gases has altered climatic trends leading to poor distribution of precipitation leading to arid conditions. While most of these are general challenges, the aim of this study was to understand maize lethal necrosis disease as an important maize production constraint in Naivasha and Bomet counties.

MLN is causes serious effects to maize many countries in the region including Kenya. It was first reported in September 2011 in Longisa Bomet County. By 2012, characteristics of disease similar to MLN were observed in a number of areas in central, Nyanza and Rift valley regions of Kenya (Wangai et al., 2012). MLN is still a common problem facing areas that produce maize in the country (Magenya et al., 2009) leading to low yield (Murdoch et al., 2003). Although the problem being researched extensively, commercial varieties are still affected by the disease.

Weather changes and high temperature favors and allows increase in number of insects that transmit MLN. This creates a challenge to scientists grappling with the disease (Wangai et al., 2012). The outbreak of MLN is a serious hindrance to food security in the country. To effectively manage MLN disease, there is need to identify MLN resistant varieties. This study was carried done to screen for MLN resistant maize varieties grown under high disease pressure in Naivasha and Bomet counties.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### **3.2.1 Experimental Site**

There were two experimental sites. One under artificial inoculation at Naivasha {Latitude: 0°43.0002' S Longitude: 36°26.1546' E, 1915m above sea level(asl) } and one under natural inoculation at Bomet[latitude 01°05'S, longitude 35°52'E, 1827 m above sea level (asl)].

# **3.2.2 Materials and Experimental Design**

The trials comprised of 120 single cross hybrids set up in an incomplete block design in the two sites. The single crosses were formed using tolerant and susceptible inbred lines sources from CIMMYT AND KALRO. The trial in Naivasha was artificially inoculated twice as in indicated in 3.2.4 below.

# **3.2.3** Collection and Maintenance of Virus Isolates

The presence of SCMV and MCMV in the leaf samples was confirmed using ELISA and then transferred to H614 which is a susceptible hybrid. In different green houses, the leaf samples which were infected were collected, chopped, weighed and grinded using a blender in cold 0.1M potassium phosphate at buffer pH 7.0(ratio 1:10). The extract was then passed through a cheese cloth to remove any debris. The extract from the two viruses was then mixed and carborandum was added to decanted sap extract at the rate of 0.7 g/ 1 of Inoculum and stirred to ensure even distribution of carborandum. The susceptible plants were inoculated at 3-4 leaf stage in the green house by applying sap onto the leaves with fingers. For Inoculum production, two separate sealed green houses for SCMV and MCMV were maintained. ELISA was then conducted 3 weeks pre-inoculation on leaf samples collected randomly from the different green houses to confirm purity of the Inoculum.

#### **3.2.4 Artificial Field Inoculation**

For even disease pressure in the fields the mixture of MLN viruses were mixed at a ratio of 4:1 and inoculated at 5th - 6th week post planting using a motorized pump (Solo 423 Mist Blower, 12 L capacity). The Inoculum spray was delivered at a rate of 120L/Ha using an open nozzle (2-inche diameter). Symptoms appeared 10 days after inoculation and ELISA was done to confirm presence of MLN viruses in the field trials.

#### 3.3 Data Recording

### **3.3.1** Disease Severity

Data was collected on plant stand count and grain yield, Data collection on disease severity was based on symptom observation in the susceptible control and rated as described by (Gowda et al., 2015); 1- non-symptomatic leaves, 2- mild symptoms on 20-40% leaf area, 3= moderate symptoms on 40-60% leaf area, 5= severe symptoms on 75% or more leaf area, plants severely stunted, drying/dead. Resistance was classified as follows;

#### 1.0 – Symptomless, immune

#### 1.2-1.4 – Highly resistant

## 1.5-2.4-Resistant

2.5-2.9–Moderately resistant

3.0-5.0-Susceptible

Occurrence of MLN was based on symptoms of disease and diagnostic tests carried out to identify the disease and the respective data recorded three weeks after planting and after every three weeks until the grains were fully formed in the maize cobs.

# **3.3.2 Disease Rating System**

The disease rating system was visual and started two weeks post inoculation. It was conducted after every 14 days until 42 days post inoculation. Disease score was given on row basis. A minimum of 3 ratings were collected.

# **3.4 Data Analysis**

The data was analyzed using GENSTAT (15<sup>th</sup> edition). Data severity was evaluated using a scale of 1 to 5 is used by KALRO/CIMMYT where 1=no symptoms observed, 2= fine Chlorotic streaks on upper leaves, 3= Chlorotic mottling throughout the plant, 4= excessive Chlorotic mottling and dead heart and 5= complete plant necrosis. The average severity per treatment combination was determined. All data was subjected to Analysis of Variance using GENSTAT statistical package to determine the effects of the different treatments.

# 3.5.1 Identification of MLN Resistant Single Cross Varieties Grown Under High Disease Pressure

In each site of the study there were two reps and each rep had 120 plants. Generally, the mean value for MLND severity in Bomet county was 3.077(0.336) and in Naivasha was 3.533(0.325), Table 1. The statistical results suggested that maize varieties in Naivasha were far much affected by Maize lethal necrosis as compared to Maize plants varieties in Bomet, when analysis of variance (ANOVA) was exploited during the analysis at 5% significance level, P-value≤0.05 Table 3.1. The single crosses showed different severity levels across the two sites. Some maize plants were seriously affected by MLN disease while others were moderately affected. Therefore, variability of the infection of Maize lethal necrosis disease across the two sites was probably due to different climatic changes, especially temperatures and other abiotic factors that may have favored Maize lethal necrosis infection in the different maize varieties.

 Table 3.1: Summary Statistics of Disease Score for Maize Lethal Necrosis In Each
 Site

Site	Mean	SD	Sample (n)	P-value
Bomet	3.0769	0.336	240	
Naivasha	3.533	0.325	240	0.05

From descriptive analysis, the results showed that 1(0.42%) maize plant had slightly been affected, 160(67.51%) Maize plants had moderate infection and 76(32.07%) maize plants had severe infection from Maize lethal necrosis in Bomet while in Naivasha 33(13.87%)

maize plants experienced moderate impact and 205(86.13%) maize plants had severe infection from Maize lethal necrosis disease, figure 3.2.



# Figure 3.1: Distribution of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease in Maize Varieties by Phenotypic Ranking

For the two sites, the results presented shows that there was no statistical significant difference in their means values at 95% confidence interval, P-value=0.896, Table3.2.

Site	Mean	Sd	Sample	P-value
Bomet	3.077	0.337	240	
Naivasha	3.533	0.325	240	0.896

Table3.2: Summary Statistics for Disease Score Of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease in the Two Sites.

Table 3.3: Means of MLN Scores and Yield of 120 Inbreds Screened In 2015 in Naivasha

GENOTYPE	DISEASE	DISEASE	YIELD (t/ha)
	SCORE(NAIVASHA)	REACTION	
SC-MLN-15-1	4	S	0.63
SC-MLN-15-2	3.5	S	1.07
SC-MLN-15-3	3.3	S	1.41
SC-MLN-15-4	3.5	S	0.71
SC-MLN-15-5	3.8	S	0.5
SC-MLN-15-6	3	S	1.02
SC-MLN-15-7	3.8	S	1.33
SC-MLN-15-8	3	S	1
SC-MLN-15-9	3.8	S	0.53
SC-MLN-15-10	3.8	S	1.19
SC-MLN-15-11	3.8	S	0.65
SC-MLN-15-12	3.8	S	0.73
SC-MLN-15-13	3.8	S	0.5
SC-MLN-15-14	3.8	S	0.79
SC-MLN-15-15	3	S	1.54
SC-MLN-15-16	3.3	S	0.95
SC-MLN-15-17	3.6	S	1.14
SC-MLN-15-18	3.8	S	0.59
SC-MLN-15-19	3.3	S	1.11
SC-MLN-15-20	3.3	S	1.26
SC-MLN-15-21	3.5	S	0.47
SC-MLN-15-22	4	S	0.58

SC-MLN-15-23	3.8	S	0.57
SC-MLN-15-24	3.8	S	0.52
SC-MLN-15-25	3.5	S	0.46
SC-MLN-15-26	3	S	1.12
SC-MLN-15-27	3.5	S	0.61
SC-MLN-15-28	3.8	S	0.72
SC-MLN-15-29	3.8	S	0.77
SC-MLN-15-30	3.5	S	0.87
SC-MLN-15-31	3.5	S	0.36
SC-MLN-15-32	3.8	S	0.72
SC-MLN-15-33	3.5	S	0.27
SC-MLN-15-34	3.8	S	0.49
SC-MLN-15-35	3.5	S	0.62
SC-MLN-15-36	3.8	S	0.89
SC-MLN-15-37	3.3	S	1.28
SC-MLN-15-38	3.5	S	0.59
SC-MLN-15-39	3.8	S	0.6
SC-MLN-15-40	3.5	S	0.73
SC-MLN-15-41	3.8	S	0.92
SC-MLN-15-42	3.5	S	0.87
SC-MLN-15-43	3.5	S	0.62
SC-MLN-15-44	3.8	S	0.78
SC-MLN-15-45	3.5	S	0.72
SC-MLN-15-46	3.5	S	0.76
SC-MLN-15-47	3.5	S	0.77
SC-MLN-15-48	3.5	S	0.91
SC-MLN-15-49	3.3	S	0.84
SC-MLN-15-50	3.8	S	0.64
SC-MLN-15-51	3.8	S	0.71
SC-MLN-15-52	3.5	S	0.71
SC-MLN-15-53	3.8	S	0.49
SC-MLN-15-54	3.8	S	0.82
SC-MLN-15-55	3.5	S	0.95
SC-MLN-15-56	2.5	MR	0.72
SC-MLN-15-57	3.5	S	0.98
SC-MLN-15-58	3.3	S	0.84
SC-MLN-15-59	3.5	S	0.94
SC-MLN-15-60	3.8	S	0.46
SC-MLN-15-61	3.8	S	0.37
SC-MLN-15-62	3.5	S	0.45
SC-MLN-15-63	3.5	S	0.43
SC-MLN-15-64	3.5	S	0.57
SC-MLN-15-65	3	S	0.78

SC-MLN-15-66	3.5	S	0.67
SC-MLN-15-67	3.5	S	0.95
SC-MLN-15-68	3.5	S	0.79
SC-MLN-15-69	3	S	1.14
SC-MLN-15-70	3.5	S	1.05
SC-MLN-15-71	3.8	S	0.42
SC-MLN-15-72	3.3	S	1.18
SC-MLN-15-73	3.3	S	0.68
SC-MLN-15-74	3.5	S	0.69
SC-MLN-15-75	3.8	S	0.75
SC-MLN-15-76	3.8	S	0.48
SC-MLN-15-77	4	S	0.22
SC-MLN-15-78	3.5	S	0.62
SC-MLN-15-79	3.5	S	0.67
SC-MLN-15-80	3.5	S	0.89
SC-MLN-15-81	3	S	1.59
SC-MLN-15-82	3.5	S	1.01
SC-MLN-15-83	3.5	S	1.04
SC-MLN-15-84	3.8	S	0.8
SC-MLN-15-85	3.5	S	0.9
SC-MLN-15-86	3.8	S	0.4
SC-MLN-15-87	3.8	S	0.74
SC-MLN-15-88	3.8	S	0.91
SC-MLN-15-89	3.5	S	0.31
SC-MLN-15-90	3.5	S	0.82
SC-MLN-15-91	3.8	S	0.65
SC-MLN-15-92	3.3	S	0.91
SC-MLN-15-93	3.8	S	0.59
SC-MLN-15-94	4	S	0.4
SC-MLN-15-95	3.8	S	0.33
SC-MLN-15-96	3.3	S	0.82
SC-MLN-15-97	3.5	S	0.97
SC-MLN-15-98	3.5	S	1.07
SC-MLN-15-99	3.5	S	0.49
SC-MLN-15-100	3.5	S	0.89
SC-MLN-15-101	4	S	0.39
SC-MLN-15-102	3.5	S	1.45
SC-MLN-15-103	3.3	S	0.64
SC-MLN-15-104	3.5	S	0.75
SC-MLN-15-105	3.8	S	0.88
SC-MLN-15-106	3.5	S	0.97
SC-MLN-15-107	3.3	S	1.12
SC-MLN-15-108	3.5	S	0.4

SC-MLN-15-109	3.8	S	0.45
SC-MLN-15-110	3.8	S	0.52
SC-MLN-15-111	3.3	S	0.98
SC-MLN-15-112	3.5	S	0.81
SC-MLN-15-113	3.5	S	0.71
SC-MLN-15-114	3.8	S	0.59
SC-MLN-15-115	3.5	S	0.39
SC-MLN-15-116	3.5	S	0.74
SC-MLN-15-117	3.5	S	0.61
SC-MLN-15-118	3.5	S	0.88
SC-MLN-15-119	3.5	S	0.78
SC-MLN-15-120	3.5	S	0.64
Mean	3.6		0.76
CV	0.064		0.074

# Naivasha site

MLND severity was high in Naivasha and this can be attributed to artificial inoculation done in this site. The mean MLN disease score in Naivasha was 3.5. The mean scores were variable and significantly different at p≤0.05. The disease score ranged from 2.5 -4. SC-MLN-15-56 had the least disease score of 2.5. SC-MLN-15-1, SC-MLN-15-22, SC-MLN-15-77, SC-MLN-15-94 and SC-MLN-15-101 were severely affected with a mean score of 4.

Naivasha site had a mean yield of 0.76t/ha. The highest yielding crosses were SC-MLN-15-81(1.59t/ha) and SC-MLN-15-15(1.54t/ha). The lowest yielding cross was SCMLN-15-77(0.22t/ha).

Table 3.4: Means of MLN Disease Score and Yields of 120 Inbreds Screened In 2015

•	<b>D</b> 4
in	Romot
111	DUIICL

Genotype	Disease score	Disease reaction	Yield
SC-MLN-15-1	3.7	S	0.74
SC-MLN-15-2	3	S	1.49
SC-MLN-15-3	2.3	S	1.38
SC-MLN-15-4	3.2	S	0.8
SC-MLN-15-5	2.7	S	1.23
SC-MLN-15-6	3	S	1.58
SC-MLN-15-7	3.1	S	1.34
SC-MLN-15-8	2.9	S	2.64
SC-MLN-15-9	3.1	S	2.26
SC-MLN-15-10	3	S	2.04
SC-MLN-15-11	3.5	S	3.41
SC-MLN-15-12	3.1	S	1.75
SC-MLN-15-13	3.1	S	2.77
SC-MLN-15-14	2.8	S	2.14
SC-MLN-15-15	2.9	S	1.68
SC-MLN-15-16	3	S	1.21
SC-MLN-15-17	3.1	S	0.81
SC-MLN-15-18	2.9	S	1.19
SC-MLN-15-19	3	S	1.13
SC-MLN-15-20	3.4	S	1.16
SC-MLN-15-21	2.8	S	1.01
SC-MLN-15-22	3.1	S	0.4
SC-MLN-15-23	2.5	S	0.48
SC-MLN-15-24	2.9	S	0.15
SC-MLN-15-25	2.9	S	0.63
SC-MLN-15-26	3.5	S	1.61
SC-MLN-15-27	3.4	S	1.43
SC-MLN-15-28	3.2	S	2.45
SC-MLN-15-29	2.7	S	2.42
SC-MLN-15-30	3.3	S	3.53
SC-MLN-15-31	3.8	S	1.44
SC-MLN-15-32	3.3	S	2.22
SC-MLN-15-33	3	S	2.17
SC-MLN-15-34	3	S	1.11

SC-MLN-15-35	3.7	S	1.79
SC-MLN-15-36	2.9	S	1.68
SC-MLN-15-37	2.9	S	1.99
SC-MLN-15-38	3.1	S	1.46
SC-MLN-15-39	3.3	S	0.77
SC-MLN-15-40	3.3	S	1.89
SC-MLN-15-41	2.9	S	1.62
SC-MLN-15-42	3.3	S	1.2
SC-MLN-15-43	2.8	S	0.89
SC-MLN-15-44	3.3	S	1.85
SC-MLN-15-45	3	S	2.93
SC-MLN-15-46	2.8	S	1.74
SC-MLN-15-47	3.2	S	1.73
SC-MLN-15-48	3	S	2.16
SC-MLN-15-49	2.8	S	1.42
SC-MLN-15-50	3.5	S	0.98
SC-MLN-15-51	3.2	S	1.64
SC-MLN-15-52	3	S	2.07
SC-MLN-15-53	2.8	S	1.81
SC-MLN-15-54	2.8	S	1.7
SC-MLN-15-55	2.9	S	0.89
SC-MLN-15-56	3.2	S	1.5
SC-MLN-15-57	3.3	S	1.63
SC-MLN-15-58	3.1	S	1.46
SC-MLN-15-59	3.7	S	0
SC-MLN-15-60	3	S	0
SC-MLN-15-61	2.8	S	2.22
SC-MLN-15-62	2.9	S	3.76
SC-MLN-15-63	2.7	S	3.08
SC-MLN-15-64	3	S	2.41
SC-MLN-15-65	3.4	S	1.66
SC-MLN-15-66	3.2	S	3.37
SC-MLN-15-67	2.8	S	2.66
SC-MLN-15-68	2.9	S	3.07
SC-MLN-15-69	2.9	S	1.83
SC-MLN-15-70	3.3	S	3.26
SC-MLN-15-71	3	S	2.84
SC-MLN-15-72	3.5	S	1.55
SC-MLN-15-73	3	S	1.29
SC-MLN-15-74	2.9	S	3.24
SC-MLN-15-75	3.2	S	2.08

SC-MLN-15-76	3.5	S	1.24
SC-MLN-15-77	3.2	S	2.83
SC-MLN-15-78	3.1	S	2.22
SC-MLN-15-79	3.2	S	1.77
SC-MLN-15-80	2.9	S	3.21
SC-MLN-15-81	2.9	S	2.08
SC-MLN-15-82	3	S	2.24
SC-MLN-15-83	3.3	S	2.29
SC-MLN-15-84	3.5	S	2.56
SC-MLN-15-85	2.9	S	2.18
SC-MLN-15-86	3.5	S	2.41
SC-MLN-15-87	3.4	S	3.03
SC-MLN-15-88	3	S	2.17
SC-MLN-15-89	2.9	S	2.17
SC-MLN-15-90	3	S	0.93
SC-MLN-15-91	3.3	S	2.28
SC-MLN-15-92	3.2	S	2.67
SC-MLN-15-93	3.4	S	0.75
SC-MLN-15-94	2.9	S	1.43
SC-MLN-15-95	3.2	S	1.88
SC-MLN-15-96	2.9	S	1.75
SC-MLN-15-97	3.3	S	1.37
SC-MLN-15-98	2.9	S	1.46
SC-MLN-15-99	2.8	S	2.37
SC-MLN-15-100	2.9	S	2.48
SC-MLN-15-101	3.3	S	2.83
SC-MLN-15-102	2.9	S	2.35
SC-MLN-15-103	3	S	1.36
SC-MLN-15-104	3.3	S	1.71
SC-MLN-15-105	3.3	S	1.44
SC-MLN-15-106	2.7	S	1.39
SC-MLN-15-107	3	S	1.27
SC-MLN-15-108	3.2	S	1.16
SC-MLN-15-109	3.3	S	2.19
SC-MLN-15-110	3	S	1.66
SC-MLN-15-111	3.1	S	1.3
SC-MLN-15-112	2.9	S	1.12
(check 1)			
SC-MLN-15-113	3.1	S	1.61
(check 2)			

SC-MLN-15-114 (check 3)	3.1	S	1.44
SC-MLN-15- 115(check4)	3.4	S	1.03
SC-MLN-15- 116(check5)	3.2	S	0.95
SC-MLN-15- 117(check6)	3.1	S	1.64
SC-MLN-15- 118(check7)	2.9	S	1.08
SC-MLN-15-119 (check 8)	3.3	S	0.94
SC-MLN-15- 120(check9)	3.2	S	0.94
Mean	3.1		1.77
Cv	0.064		0.59

# **Bomet site**

In Bomet infection was also observed in all genotypes but at varying levels. Single crosses with least disease scores include: SC-MLN-15-3(2.3) and SC-MLN-15-23(2.5). The most affected genotypes were: SC-MLN-15-1(3.7), SC-MLN-15-31(3.8) and SC-MLN-15-35(3.7). The mean yield in Bomet was 1.77t/ha. The highest yielding crosses include: SC-MLN-15-30(3.53t/ha), SC-MLN-15-11(3.42t/ha) and SC-MLN-15-66(3.37t/ha). The most affected were SC-MLN-15-60 and SC-MLN-15-61 and did not have any yield at all.

#### Discussion

The study was carried out to screen genotypes for resistance to MLN disease. The disease was distributed in all counties surveyed and was not limited to a particular region. All genotypes studied were also infected with MLND although at varying levels. Variation in response to MLN was observed in the single crosses which show existing and suitable

germplasm for improving MLND susceptible varieties. Earlier studies had identified MLND as an important disease across the country affecting all the major maize growing areas in the region (Wangai et al., 2012). The disease incidence was high in both locations. This may be an indication that despite the efforts being put by researchers to manage MLND, true resistance has not been found. However severity for MLND was high in Naivasha compared to Bomet and this is because of artificial inoculation that was done in Naivasha.

In Naivasha site there were 240 plants. The mean value for MLN disease score in Naivasha was 3.5. When Analysis of variance was exploited it showed that average squares for genotypes were highly significant. The scores for disease severity for the single crosses were significantly different at  $p \le 0.05$  in Naivasha. The average disease severity scores of the single crosses ranged from 2.5-4(table). The single cross with the least disease score was SC-MLN-15-56 with a disease score of 2.5. SC-MLN-15-1, SC-MLN-15-22, SC-MLN-15-77, SC-MLN-15-94 and SC-MLN-15-101 were severely affected with disease scores 0f 4. Majority of the single crosses in Naivasha were susceptible with scores ranging from 3- 5.

The highest yielding crosses in Naivasha were SC-MLN-15-81 and SC-MLN-15-15 with yields of 1.59t/ha and 1.54 t/ha respectively. SCMLN-15-56 which had the least disease score ha a yield of 0.72t/ha. The single crosses with the highest disease scores; SC-MLN-15-1, SC-MLN-15-22, SC-MLN-15-77, SC-MLN-15-94 and SC-MLN-15-101 had yields of 0.63t/ha, 0.58t/ha, 0.22t/ha, 0.40t/ha and 0.39t/ha respectively.

The lowest yielding single cross in Naivasha was SC-MLN-15-77 with a yield of 0.22t/ha.

In Bomet there were240 single crosses and infection was observed on all genotypes studied but at varying levels.10% of the single crosses in Bomet were slightly affected by the disease, 67% were moderately affected while 32% were severely affected. There was significant genetic variation in the single crosses at  $p \le 0.05$ .

The single cross with the least severity score in Bomet was SC-MLN-15-3 with a disease score of 2.3 and SC-MLN-15-23 with a disease score of 2.5. The most severely affected genotypes include: SC-MLN-15-1(3.7), SC-MLN-15-11(3.5), SC-MLN-15-31(3.8), SC-MLN-15-35(3.7), SC-MLN-15-50(3.5), SC-MLN-15-72(3.5) and SC-MLN-15-86(3.5).

The mean yield (t/ha) in Bomet was 1.77(t/ha). The highest yielding crosses in Bomet were SC-MLN-15-11, SC-MLN-15-30 and SC-MLN-15-66 with yields of 3.41t/ha, 3.53t/ha and 3.37t/ha.

SC-MLN-14-60 and SC-MLN-15-61 dis not have any yield.

Other single crosses with low yields include SC-MLN-15-24 and SC-MLN-15-22 with yields of 0.15t/ha and 0.40t/ha

Disease score and maize yield were negatively correlated. The absence correlation between grain yield and MLN disease resistance is important because it indicates both of these characteristics can be improved together. Other studies using different germplasm under MLND pressure reported similar results. (Betran et al., 2003)

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### **COMBINING ABILITY OF SINGLE CROSSES**

#### Abstract

The use of diallel crosses to establish high yielding combinations is a usual practice in maize (Zea mays L) breeding programs. The type of gene involves and genetic characteristics for tolerance to disease is a crucial trait in coming up with tolerant varieties. This gives a method of controlling disease that is friendly to the environment, cheap and sustainable. The objective of this study was to identify the performance of 16 maize inbred lines derived from CIMMYT and KALRO as to their general (GCA) and specific (SCA) combining abilities using a complete diallel scheme with the aim of coming up with tolerant genotypes against Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease in MLN hot spot areas in Bomet and Naivasha in 2015 cropping season. The experimental material included 120 single crosses 16 parental lines and two four local grown varieties as checks. The experiment was set in an incomplete block design with two replications in each site. The general combining ability (GCA) and specific combining ability (SCA) effects of genotypes in all sites differed significantly in their response to MLND. When combined analysis of variance for diallel cross was performed, it revealed GCA and SCA values that were highly significant showing that additive and non- additive effects are important for grain yield. The best general combiners for grain yield were CKH10767, CML312 and CML540. These lines would serve as a source of germplasm to increase hybrid grain yield in the country.

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Grain yield of maize is a complex trait. Grain yield incorporates various factors that are quantitatively passed to the next generation (Živanovic et al., 2006). The major role of selection in maize is to be able to come up with cross breeds, that have better genetic ability for yield and other farmer desired characteristics which surpass the hybrids that are available commercially (Secanski et al., 2010, Cvarkovik et al., 2009). Diallel crosses have been widely used in plant breeding to investigate combining abilities of the parental lines in order to identify superior parents for use in hybrid development programs. The diallel mating design has also been used, in genetic research to find out how important traits are inherited among a set of genotypes and gene effects in action (Malik et al., 2005).

The idea of general and specific combining ability was brought about by SPRAGUE and TATUM (1942). General combining ability (GCA) is how a line performs in a series of hybrid combinations and specific combining ability (SCA) is the value of a line in consideration in a specific cross.

There are four experimental methods and two models that were proposed (Griffing, 1956) to be used in the investigation of GCA and SCA in a diallel mating design. The variation for GCA is associated with additive genetic action while that of SCA is mainly associated with non-additive genetic effects, which involve dominance and epistasis (Falconer & Mackay, 1996). The notion of combining ability in maize has been researched by several maize breeders (Beck et al., 1990; Crossa et al., 1990; Vasal et al., 1992; Kang et al., 1995 Kim and Ayala, 1996; Xingming et al., 2001; Betran et al., 2002; Revilla et al., 2004; Glover et al., 2005). In this study, 16 inbred lines were

mated in a complete diallel scheme adopted from Griffings method 1V to find out the gene action controlling grain yield

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Germplasm Sources

The experimental material included 16 inbred lines of maize: CKH10767, CKH114272, CML312, CML444, CML503, CML 144, CML442, CML395, CML505, CML498, CML539, CML540, CML562, CML578, CML 034, and CML494. The inbreds were formed using resistant and susceptible inbred lines sources from CIMMYT AND KALRO and were chosen because they were diverse genetically and their response to disease. These lines were crossed in 2015 in a diallel mating design to form 120 F1 hybrids

# 4.2.2 Experimental Design

The original diallel was evaluated in an incomplete block design. Each set was replicated twice in each location. The Experiment was done in two locations in Kenya, in 2015 in Bomet and Naivasha. These are locations currently having high MLND occurrences. The experimental plot comprised of two rows of 2.5m at spacing of 75cm inters rows and 125cm between hills. Leaves were trimmed at 4-6 leaf stage and quality cultural practices to ensure high maize production was observed in the two locations.

#### **4.2.3 Data Collection**

The parental lines were evaluated so as to understand their genetic make -up on : disease scores, plant height(cm) measured from the base of the plant to the base of the tassel, anthesis date(50% pollen shed), silking date( 50% silk emergence),ear height measured from the base of the plant to the node bearing the top ear and moisture content. Data for

grain yield was recorded on a plot basis at all locations as shown by Magorokosho et al., 2009 were shelled to determine percent moisture. Grain yield adjusted to 12.5% moisture was computed from ear weight and grain weight based on the following formulae:

# Grain Yield (t ha-1) = [Grain weight (kg plot-1) x 10 x (100 - MC)/(100 - 12.5)/(Plot area)],

Where:

# MC = measured grain moisture content

#### 4.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) to detect differences among the single crosses was performed using GENSTAT (5<sup>th</sup> edition). The random effects included; the genotypes, locations and replicates. The parental GCA effects and the crosses SCA together with their average squares were evaluated using a half diallel adopted from Griffings 4 model 11 (random parental effects) (Griffing 1956). This was done using diallel GENSTAT program.

The statistical model for the combined diallel analysis in the two locations is as follows:  $Yijk=\mu+gi+gj+sij+lk+glk+sijlk+\epsilon ijk$ 

Where *Yijk* is the observed measurement of the *ijth* cross grown in the *kth* environment,  $\mu$  is the grand mean; *gi* and *gj* are the GCA effects; *sij* is the SCA effects; *glk* is the interaction effect between GCA and the environment; *sijlk* is the interaction effect between SCA and the environment, and *ɛijk* is the error term associated with the *ijth* cross evaluated in the *kth* replication and *lth* environment (Hallauer and Miranda, 1988). GCA and SCA effects were tested using a t- test. The standard errors of the GCA and SCA effects were determine using the square root of GCA and SCA variances (Griffing, 1956). The relative importance of GCA and SCA was determined using Bakers ratio (1978):  $2\sigma^2$ GCA/

$$2\sigma GCA + \sigma^2$$
sca

Where;

GCA=Σxi.2/ (p-2) -4x..2/ [p(p-2)]

SCA=ΣΣi<jxij2 -Σxi.2/ (p-2) +2.2/[(p-1)(p-2)]

GCA = general combining ability; SCA = specific combining ability; xi. = mean of *i* th parent; x.. = overall mean of all crosses;

# 4.3 Results

The mean square of all the traits studied was revealed by Analysis of Variance. GCA effects showed mean squares that were highly significant for all the characteristics under study while mean squares for SCA was also significant for most traits except for ear height.

Table 4.1: Combined Analysis Of	Variance For	Different Traits	s In A Diallel Cro	SS
of Maize.				

Source of variation	Df	Grain yield per plot (t/ha)	Days to 50% pollen shedding	Days to 50% silking	Moisture content (%)	Plant height(cm)	Ear height (cm)	
Mean squares								
Locations	1	0.53**	0.13**	0.13**	0.22**	0.49**	0.44**	
GCA	15	0.04**	0.75**	0.44**	0.32**	0.70**	0.89**	
SCA	120	0.05**	0.18**	0.19**	0.24*	0.45**	0.58**	
GCA x Locations	15	0.02**	0.28**	0.87**	0.30**	0.46**	0.38**	
SCA x Locations	120	0.03	0.30**	0.30**	0.45**	0.14	0.11	
$\sigma^2 s / \sigma^2 g$		0.021	0.353	0.127	0.065	0.080	0.075	

\*, \*\* significant at 5% & 1 % level respectively.

Parents	Pedigree	Grain	Pollen shed	Silking	Moisture	Plant height	Ear height
		Yield	Silva			(cm)	(cm)
1	CKH10767	( <b>t/ha</b> ) 0.29*	$1.56^{**}$	-1.64**	-0.22*	-0.14	_
-					**	**	4.77**
2	СКН114272	-0.03	0.45**	-0.12	0.76	4.27	- 6.69 <sup>**</sup>
3	CML312	-0.04	0.06	0.35**	$0.44^{**}$	6.04**	5.74**
4	CML444	0.26*	-0.1	-0.56**	0.19*	1.98**	- **
5	CMI 503	-0.14	-0.21*	$1 \ 14^{**}$	-0.11	-1 01 <sup>**</sup>	0.70 <sup>***</sup> 1 97 <sup>***</sup>
5	CIVILSUS	-0.14	-0.21	1.14	-0.11	-1.01	4.77
6	CML144	-0.02	1.37 <sup>**</sup>	-0.97**	-0.05	8.56**	2.35**
7	CML442	0.05	1.76**	-1.64**	$0.58^{**}$	1.62**	-
8	CML395	0.1	2.14**	1.43**	-0.16*	10.46**	1.66 <sup>**</sup>
9	CML505	0.25*	-0.02	-0.81**	-0.66**	15.02**	9.64**
10	CML498	0.43**	-	-2.41**	-1.48**	-	-
11	CML539	0.11	4.00 0.06	0.05	0.08	34.37 9.64 <sup>**</sup>	9.62 0.10 <sup>*</sup>
12	CML540	0.17	0.09	0.08	1.13**	0.1	-
13	CML562	0.29*	0.44**	-1.01**	-1.01**	0.15	1.37 -0.1
14	CML578	-0.03	- 0 70 <sup>**</sup>	-0.67**	-0.14	5.27	-0.21*
15	CML034	-0.04	1.62 <sup>**</sup>	0.06	-0.22*	$1.76^{**}$	$0.58^{**}$
16	CML494	0.26*	1.48**	0.1	0.05	-0.21	6.04**

Table 4.2: GCA Estimates Of Effects For Different Traits Of Inbred Lines In Maize.

\*, \*\* significant at 5% & 1 % level respectively

Cross	Grain	Pollen	Silking	Moisture	Plant	Ear
	yield	shed		content	height	placement
CKH10767×CML503	0.31*	1.16**	1.10*	-0.39*	32.34**	0.27
CKH10767×CML505	0.34*	-2.22**	-1.65**	-1.74**	22.3**	16.8**
CKH14272×CML144	0.32*	-0.85**	0.10	0.28*	14.78**	6.51**
CML312×CML444	0.42*	-2.35**	-3.13**	-0.29*	35.85**	-4.27**
$CML444 \times CML395$	0.37*	-1.80**	-3.12**	-2.49**	32.00**	7.79**
CML444 ×CML498	0.35*	-1.68**	1.56**	-2.63**	15.23**	-0.20
CML503×CML442	0.53**	6.53**	2.06**	-0.30**	-21.57**	-11.85**
CML503×CML395	0.34*	-1.12**	-1.82**	0.33**	-4.07**	0.38**
CML144×CML494	0.31*	-0.25**	0.20*	-0.90**	11.48**	13.03**
CML498×CML540	0.46**	-1.80**	-1.25**	-2.03**	-2.05**	-2.29**
CML395×CML505	0.54**	-1.35**	-1.59**	-4.49**	-5.3**	-20.07**
CML395×CML498	0.30*	-0.24**	2.59**	-3.68**	5.55**	-1.91**
CML505×CML539	$0.16^{**}$	$0.07^{*}$	0.08	0.10	$12.38^{**}$	0.14
CML498×CML540	$0.55^{**}$	0.26	0.29	0.37	$7.22^{**}$	0.48
CML539×CML562	0.31*	1.16**	1.10*	-0.39*	32.34**	0.27
CML540×CML578	0.34*	-2.22**	-1.65**	-1.74**	22.3**	16.8**

Table 4.3: SCA Estimates of Effects of Selected Crosses in Maize

\*, \*\* significant at 5% & 1 % level respectively

# Results

Analysis of variance for GCA showed significant mean square values for all the traits that were studied. SCA mean squares were also highly significant majority of the traits apart from plant and ear height. For days to pollen shed, the highest GCA values were observed in CKH10767, CML442 AND CML395. The best specific combinations were CML503× CML442 (6.53) followed by CML540×CML578 (1.16) and CKH10767× CML503 (1.16). When early maturity in plant is desired, negative values for GCA and SCA effects would be desirable which were estimated in CKH114272, CML503, CML444, CML144, CML505, CML498, CML578 and CML494. Same study outcomes

have been reported for other lines by Mungoma and pollak (1988) and Revilla et al (1999).

The highest GCA effects for plant height were observed for CML539 (9.64) followed by CML144 (8.56) followed by CML312 (6.04). Good specific combinations were observed in in hybrids CML539×CML505 (35.85) followed by CML539×CML562 (32.34). Significant GCA and SCA mean squares have also been presented by Revilla et al 1999 for plant height in some lines of maize.

For ear height, the GCA effects were highly significant as compared to SCA effects. The prevalence of GCA effects shows that the difference among the crosses was mainly caused by additive and not the non- additive gene effects and to be able to improve ear height selection would be necessary and effective. Inbreds CML505, CML 494 and CML312 came up as the best general combiners with GCA values of 9.64, 6.04 and 5.74 respectively. The SCA was highest for cross CML505× CML539 (16.8), CKH10767×CML505 (16.8) and CML494×CML034 (16.8).

The inbreds with high GCA values for moisture at harvest was CML 540(1.13) and CKH10767 (0.76). The best specific combinations were observed in CML498× CML540 and CK114272×CML144.

For silking, high GCA effects were observed in CML 395(1.43) and CML503 (1.14). The best specific combinations were observed in CML505×CML539 (2.59) and CML503×CML442 (2.06).

For grain yield, high estimates of GCA were observed in CML498 (0.43), CKH10767 (0.29), CML562 (0.29) and CML492 (0.26). The highest SCA effects were observed in

CML395× CML498, CML503× CML442 and CML562×CML539. Mungoma and Pollack also reported high GCA and SCA effects for grain yield in their study.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Maize lethal necrosis disease is not only as a result of infection by either SCMV or MCMV, but it also includes their synergistic interaction which simultaneously cause high yield loss and endangers the food security presently in eastern Africa (Ali and Yan 2012). The genetic characteristic of SCMV and other Potyviruses has been researched comprehensively in maize with varied germplasm (as reviewed by Redinbaugh and Pratt 2009). The genetics and inheritance of resistance to MLND is not yet known and is expected to be very complex which may be due to combination of two viruses.

This study was carried out to screen genotypes for MLN resistance. The disease was distributed in all the counties surveyed and was not restricted to any particular ecological zone. All the genotypes were also infected with MLND although at varying levels. Earlier studies had identified MLND as an important disease across the country affecting major maize growing areas (Wangai et al., 2012). The occurrence of MLN was high in both locations. This may be an indication that despite the effort being put by researchers to manage MLND, true resistance has not been found. However severity for MLND was high in Naivasha compared to Bomet and this may be due to artificial inoculation that was done in Naivasha.

Variation in response to MLN was seen in all the genotypes showing presence of suitable germplasm for developing varieties resistant to MNLD.

Disease score and maize yield were negatively correlated. The absence of association between grain yield and MLN disease resistance is important because it indicates both of these characteristics can be improved together. Several surveys using different germplasm under MLND pressure came up with the same results. (Betran et al., 2003)

Combined analysis of variance for diallel cross showed highly significant values for both GCA and SCA for grain yield showing that both additive and non- additive effects play a role in yield of crop this is a similar finding to ( Dehghanpour and Ehdaie 2013, Estakhr and Heidan 2012, Gafish et al.,2012, Haddadi et al.,2015.).

The GCA to SCA ratio was 0.60 which shows the importance of the non-additive gene action in the inheritance of grain yield and this is similar to other findings (Srdic et al., 2007, Unay et al., 2004). The intermediate contribution of SCA to hybrid difference indicates that it would be difficult to ascertain hybrid performance based on GCA effects alone. Therefore it will be necessary to test parental lines in combination with multiple testers to identify superior hybrids (Gichuru 2013). The GCA and SCA effects interacted together with location which shows the effect of the environment on grain yield and similar results has been reported in other studies (Badu-Apraku and Oyenkunle, 2012, Badu Apraku et al., 2013, Gakunga et al., 2012). This would lead to complication during selection because of genotype and location interaction effects stressing the importance to examine inbreds in environments that are not similar to ensure consistent performance of hybrids in terms of stability and productivity.

The lines with high GCA for grain yield were: CK10767 AND CML540 would contribute to favorable genes for the coming up with new varieties as a result of GCA. The large grain yield GCA effect of these lines shows their values as testers in selection for yield. Some parents such as CML034, CML442 and CML578 showed no significant GCA effects but positive and significant SCA effects when crossing. This behavior is as a

result of complementary gene effects or nicking effects (Dehghanpour and Ehdaie, 2013). CML395  $_{\times}$  CML505 was the most desirable cross combination followed by CML144  $\times$  CML498 and CML395 $\times$  CML498 Combinations involving CML503 as one of the parental lines showed suitable SCA effects for most of the characteristics that were studied.

## CHAPTER SIX

# CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

# **6.1** Conclusion

Maize is affected by a host of different pathogens among them MLND which causes significant yield losses. During the study period all locations showed MLND infestation. The different maize genotypes reacted differently to MLNS. Naivasha had the highest incidence and most severe disease scores. The disease was also present in Bomet though at different level of severity between the different genotypes evaluated. The disease continues to affect maize causing significant yield losses in the country. The maize germplasm available to farmers including hybrids are mostly susceptible to the disease. There is a likelihood that the status of the disease can change to epidemic levels especially with climate change. From this study, it is evident that different maize genotypes are involved in the development of MLN disease and therefore it is important to evaluate the genotypes available in Kenya and screen them for MLN resistance. From the study, high variability was also seen in the 120 maize genotypes showing the existing and suitable germplasm for improving MLN resistance in local varieties.

The findings of the study also noted that, combining ability and environment interactions poses difficulty in selection because of effects of the genotype associating with the location. Hence a genotype may be stable in one environment and not another environment therefore there is need to test hybrids in dissimilar environments.

## **6.2 Recommendations**

- MLND was found to be prevalent in the two counties. The disease infected all genotypes evaluated in the field. More efforts are needed to develop management strategies to minimize losses that may be associated with the disease.
- Lines SC-MLN-15-3 and SC-MLN-15-56 had low severity scores and were more tolerant to MLND. These two varieties may be good sources for tolerance to MLND and should be incorporated in breeding programs.
- Lines SC-MLN-15-81 had the heist yield in Naivasha while lines SC-MLN-15-11, CS-MLN-15-30, SC-MLN-5-66 were high Yielding in Bomet despite disease pressure. These lines would contribute useful germplasm to increase production of hybrid grain in Kenya.
- 4. GCA and SCA associated significantly with the environment for grain yield hence there is need to test inbred lines and dissimilar environment for stable performance and productivity of hybrids.
- 5. CML498, CKH10767, CML562 and CML492 were favorable general combiners for yield of grain. These lines could be utilized as testers for selection of high yielding varieties in hybridization programs.

#### REFERENCES

- Abalo, G., P. Tongoona, J. Derera and R. Edema. (2009). A comparative analysis of convention and Marker assisted selection methods in breeding maize streak virus resistance in maize. Crop Science 49: 509-520.
- Abbott, E. V., & Tippett, R. L. (1966). *Strains of sugarcane mosaic virus* (No. 1340). US Dept. of Agriculture.
- Adams, I., Braidwood, L., Stomeo, F., Phiri, N., Uwumukiza, B., Feyissa, B., ... Boonham, N. (2017). Characterizing maize viruses associated with maize lethal necrosis symptoms in sub Saharan Africa. *BioRxiv*, 161489.
- Adams, I.P., Harju, V.A., Hodges, T., Hany, U., Skelton, A., Rai, S., Deka, M.K., Smith, J.,Fox,A., Uzayisenga, B., Ngaboyisonga, C., Uwumukiza, B., Rutikanga, A.,Rutherford,
  M.,Ricthis, B., Phiri, N., and Boonham, N. (2014). First report of maize lethal

M.,Ricthis, B., Phiri, N., and Boonham, N. (2014). First report of maize lethal necrosis disease in Rwanda.

- Adams, I.P., Miano, D.W., Kinyua, Z.M., Wangai, A., Kimani, E., Phiri, N., Reeder, R., Harju, V., Glover, R., Hany, U., Souza-Richards, R., Deb Nath, P., Nixon, T., Fox, A., Barnes, A.,Smith, J., Skelton, A., Thwaites, R., Mumford, R., and Boonham, N. (2013). Use of nextgeneration sequencing for the identification and characterization of *Maize chlorotic mottlevirus* and *Sugarcane mosaic virus* causing maize lethal necrosis in Kenya.
- Agbonifo, O. C & Olufolaji, D. B. (2012). A Fuzzy Expert System for Diagnosis and Treatment of Maize Plant Diseases. International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science and Software Engineering 2 (12), pp. 83-89.
- Ali, F., & Yan, J. B. (2012). Disease resistance in maize and the role of molecular breeding in defending against global threat. Journal of Integrative *Plant Biology*. 54,134–151.
- Badu-Apraku, B., M.A.B. Fakorede, M. Oyekunle and R.O. Akinwale. (2011). Selection of extra- early maize inbreds under low N and drought at flowering and grain filling for hybrid production. Maydica 56-1721. Advance Access publication 2011.

- Badu-Apraku, B. and M. Oyekunle. (2012). Genetic analysis of grain yield and other traits of extra-early yellow maize inbreds and hybrid performance under contrasting environments. Field Crops Research 129: 99-110.
- Badu-Apraku, B., M. Oyekunle, M.A.B. Fakorede, I. Vroh, R.O. Akinwale and M. Aderounmu. (2013). Combining ability, heterotic patterns and genetic diversity of extra-early yellow inbred lines under contrasting environments. Euphytica 192: 413-433.
- Brault, V.,Uzest, M., Monsion, B.,Jacquot, E., and Blanc, S. (2010). Aphids as transport devices for plant viruses. ComptesRendusBiologies.
- Beck, D.L., S.K. Vassal and J. Crossa (1990): Heterosis and combining ability of CIMMYT's tropical early and intermediate maturity maize germplasm.
- Beckingham, C. (2007). Commodity growing guides-sweet corn. NSW Department of primary Industries, NSW, Australia.
- Betrán, F.J, T. Isakeit and G. Odvody (2002): Aflatoxin accumulation of white and Yellow maize inbreds in diallel crosses.
- Betrán, F.J., J.M. Ribaut, D. Beck and D. Gonzalez de León. (2003). Genetic diversity, specific combining ability, and heterosis in tropical maize under stress and nonstress environments. Crop Science 43: 797-806.
- Bhatnagar, S., F.J. Betrán and L.W. Rooney (2004): Combining abilities of quality protein maize inbreds.
- Bockelman, D. L., Claflin, L. E., and Uyemoto, J. K. (1982). Host range and seed transmission studies of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* in grasses and corn.
- Cabanas, D., Watanabe, S., Higashi, C.H.V., and Bressan, A. (2013). Dissecting the mode of *Maize chlorotic virus (Tombusviridae: Machlomovirus)* transmission by *Franliniellawilliamsi*(Thysanoptera: Thripidae). J. Econ. Entomol.
- Carrera-Martinez, H., Lozoya-Saldana, H., Mendoza-Zamora, C., and Alvizo-Villasana, H.(1989) .lmmunoabsorcionenzimatica (ELISA) en Iaidentificacion y distribucion del virus moteadoclorotico del maiz (VMCM) en el estado de Mexico. Rev. Mex. Fitopatol.

- Castillo, J., and Hebert, T.T. (1974). Nueva enfermedadvirosaafectando al maíz en el Peru.Fitopatologia.
- Castillo-Loayza, J. (1976). Maize virus and virus-like diseases in Peru. 495 In: L.E. Williams, D.T.Gordon and L.R. Nault (Eds.), International Maize Virus Disease Colloquium and Workshop. OARDC, Wooster, OH, pp. 40-44.
- CIMMYT. (2018). MLN Diseases portal » MLN Tolerant/Resistant germplasm. Retrieved September 17, 2018, from http://mln.cimmyt.org/mlnresistanttolerant-germplasm
- Coe, E.H. Jr, Nueffer, M.G. & Hoisington, D.A. (1988). The genetics of maize. American Society of Agronomy: Madison, Wisconsin.No. 18; pp. 81-236
- Colvin, J., Omong, C.A., Govindappa, M.R., Stevenson, P.C., Maruthi, M.N, Gibson, G., Seal,S.E. and Muniyappa, V. (2006). Host-plant viral infection effects on arthropod vectorpopulation growth, development and behavior management and epidemiological implications. Advances in Virus Research 67: 419-452.
- Crossa, J., S.K. Vasil and D.L. Beck (1990): Combining ability study in diallel crosses of CIMMYT's tropical late yellow maize germplasm. Maydica, *35*, 273-278.
- Cvarkovic, R., G. Brankovic, I. Calic, N. Delic, T. Živanovic and G. Šurlan-MomiroviC (2009): Stability of yield and yield components in maize hybrids.
- CYMMIT. (2018). MLN Diseases portal » MLN Tolerant/Resistant germplasm. Retrieved September 17, 2018, from http://mln.cimmyt.org/mln-resistanttolerant-germplasm/
- De Groote, H., Oloo, F., Tongruksawattana, S., & Das, B. (2016). Community-survey based assessment of the geographic distribution and impact of maize lethal necrosis (MLN) disease in Kenya. *Crop Protection*, 82, 30-35.
- Dehghanpour, Z. and B. Ehdaie. (2013). Stability of general and specific combining ability effects for grain yield in elite Iranian maize inbred lines. Journal of Crop Improvement 27: 137 152.
- Deng T.C., Chou C.M., Chen C.T., Tsai C.H., Lin F.C. (2014). First report of *Maize chloroticmottle virus* on sweet corn in Taiwan. Plant Dis. 98: 1748.

- Doupnik, B. (1979). Status of corn lethal necrosis: 1979 update. In Proceedings, 34th Annual Cornand Sorghum Research Conference. American Seed Trade Association. Corn and Sorghum Division. Corn and Sorghum Research Conference, Chicago, IL. pp. 16-24.
- Estakhr, A. and B. Heidari. (2012). Combining ability and gene action for maturity and agronomic traits in different heterotic groups of maize inbred lines and their diallel crosses. Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 15: 219-229.
- Falconer, D.S. and T.F.C. Mackay. (1996). Introduction to quantitative genetics. 4th ed. Longman, Harlow.
- Family. (2012), 1111–1138. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384684-6.00096-3
- FAO. (2015). FAO GIEWS Country Brief on Kenya -. Retrieved September 15, 2018, from http://www.fao.org/giews/countrybrief/country.jsp?code=KEN
- FAOSTAT. (2017). Statistical databases and data-sets of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Http://faostat.fao.orgdefault.aspx. Accessed February, 2015.
- Fatma, H. K., Tileye, F., & Patrick, A. N. (2016). Insights of maize lethal necrotic disease: A major constraint to maize production in East Africa. African Journal of Microbiology Research, 10(9), 271–279.
- Gafishi, M.K., J. Karungi, G. Asea and P. Gibson. (2012). Determination of the heterotic groups of maize inbred lines and the inheritance of their resistance to the maize weevil. African Crop Science Conference 20: 99-104.
- Gakunga, J., S. Mugo, K. Njoroge and F. Olubayo. (2012). Combining ability of maize inbred lines resistant to *Chilo partellus* (Swinhoe) in the mid-altitude environment of Kenya. Journal of Plant Breeding and Crop Science 4: 161-168.
- Galinat, W.C. Sprague, G.F. & Dudley, J.W. (eds). (1988). The origin of corn. Corn and corn improvement. Agronomy Monographs No.18; pp. 1-31. American Society of Agronomy: Madison, Wisconsin.
- Gichuru, L., K. Njoroge, J. Ininda and P. Lorroki. (2011). Combining ability of grain yield and agronomic traits in diverse maize lines with maize streak virus resistance for Eastern Africa region. Agriculture and Biology Journal of North America 2: 432-439.
- Goldberg, K. B., and Brakke, M. K. (1987). Concentration of Maize chlorotic mottle Virus increased in mixed infections with Maize dwarf mosaic virus, strain-B. Phytopathology 77:162–167.
- Glover, M.A., D.B Willmot., L.L. Darrah, B.E. Hibbard and X. zhu (2005): Diallel analyses of agronomic traits using Chinese and U.S. maize germplasm. Crop Sci., 45, 1096-1102.
- Griffing B. (1956): Concept of general and specific combining ability in relation to diallel crossing systems. Aust. Journ. Biol. Sci., *9*, 463-493.
- Haddadi, M.H., M. Eesmaeilof, R. Choukan and V. Rameeh. (2015). Combining ability analysis of days to silking, plant height, yield components and kernel yield in maize breeding lines. African Journal of Agricultural Research 7: 4685-4691.
- Handley, J.A., Smith, G.R., Dale, J.L., and Harding, R.M. (1998). Sequence diversity in the coat protein coding region of twelve sugarcane mosaic potyvirus isolates from Australia, USA and South Africa. Arch. Virol. 143: 1145-1153.
- Hallauer, A. R., & Miranda, J. B. (1988). *Quantitative Genetics in Maize Breeding* (2nd ed.). Iowa, Ames. USA: Iowa State University Press.
- Hitchcock, A. S. & Chase, A. (1971). Manual of the grasses of the United States Volume 2. p. 790-796. Dover Publications: N.Y.
- Huang, J., Wen, G. S., Li, M. J., Sun, C. C., Sun, Y., Zhao, M. F., & He, Y. Q. (2016). First Report of Maize chlorotic mottle virus Naturally Infecting Sorghum and Coix Seed 111in China. *Plant Disease*. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-02-16-0251-PDN.
- ICTV. (2018). "Virus Taxonomy: 2018 Release." Retrieved November 01, 2018, from https://talk.ictvonline.org/taxonomy/
- Isabirye, E. B., & Rwomushana, I. (2016). Current and future potential distribution of Maizechlorotic mottle virus and risk of maize lethal necrosis disease in Africa. *Journal of Crop Protection 5* (2), 215-228.

- Jaetzold, R., H. Schmidt, B. Hornetz and C. Shisanya. (2006). Farm management handbook of Kenya. 2nd edition. Vol II. Part B. Central Kenya. Central Province. Ministry of Agriculture. Nairobi. Kenya.
- Jensen, S. G., Wysong, D. S., Ball, E. M., and Higley, P. M. (1991). Seed transmission of maizechlorotic mottle virus. Plant Dis. 75: 497–498.
- Jiang, X.Q. Meinke, L.J. Wright, R.J. Wilkinson. D. R. & Campbell, J.E. (1992). Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus in Hawaiian-grown maize-vector relations, host range and associated viruses. Crop Protection.11:248-254.
- Jiang, X.Q. Wilkinson, D.R. & Berry J.A. (1990). An outbreak of *Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus* in Hawaii and possible association with thrips. Phytopathology.80:1060.
- Jones, M.W., Boyd, E.C., Redinbaugh, M.G. (2011). Responses of maize (Zea mays L.) near isogenic lines carrying Wsm1, Wsm2, and Wsm3 to three viruses in the *Potyviridae*. Theor.Appl. Genet. 123: 729-740.
- Jones, M.W., Redinbaugh, M.G., and Louie, R. (2007). The *Mdm1* locus and maize resistance to *Maize dwarf mosaic virus*. Plant Dis. 91: 185-190.
- Kang, M.S., Y. Zhang and R. Magari (1995): Combining ability for weevil preference of maize grain.
- Karaya, H., Njoroge, K., Mugo, S., Ariga, E. S., Kanampiu, F. and Nderitu, J. H. (2012). Determination of levels of *Striga* germination stimulants for maize gene bank accessions and elite inbred lines. *International Journal of Plant Production* 6: 209-224.
- Kim, S.K. and S.O. Ayala (1996): Combining abilitiy of tropical maize germplasm in West Africa II.Tropical vs Temperate x Tropical origins, Maydica, 41, 135-141.
- Kiptanui, C. (2013). Determining Factors that Affect Maize Production in Turbo Constituency, Kenya. Seed Science Research, 1(2), 45–52. Retrieved from http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/56008/Chumo\_Determi ning Factors That Affect Maize Production In Turbo Constituency.pdf;sequence=

- Klingkong T, Sutabutra T. A new virus disease of maize in Thailand. (1982). In: Proceedings of the International Maize Virus Disease Colloquium and Workshop, Gordon D.T., KnokeJ.K., Nault L.R., Ritter R.M., eds. Wooster, OH, OARDC, pp. 191-193.
- Kuntze, L., Fuchs, E., Grüntzig, M., Schulz, B., Klein, D., and Melchinger, A. E. (1997). Resistance of early-maturing European maize germplasm to sugarcane mosaic virus (SCMV) and maize dwarf mosaic virus (MDMV). *Plant Breeding*, 116, 499-501.
- Kusia E.S., Subramanian S., Nyasani J.O., Khamis F., Villinger J., Ateka E., and Pappu H. R. (2015). First report of lethal necrosis disease associated with co-infection of finger millet with *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* and *Sugarcane mosaic virus* in Kenya. Plant Disease, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-10-14-1048-PDN.
- Li, L., Wang, X.F., Zhou, G.H. (2011). Effects of seed quality on the proportion of Seed transmission for *Sugarcane mosaic virus* in maize. Cereal Research Communications 39:257-266.
- Li Y.Q., Liu R.Y., Zhou T. and Fan Z.F. (2013). Genetic diversity and population structure of Sugarcane mosaic virus. Virus Research 171: 242-246.
- Louie, R., Findley, W. R., Knoke, J. K., & McMullen, M. D. (1991). Genetics basis of resistance in maize to five maize dwarf mosaic virus strains. *Crop science*, 31(1), 14-18.
- Louie R (1980) Sugarcane mosaic virus in Kenya. Plant Disease 64, 944-947.
- Lukanda, M., Owati, A., Ogunsanya, P., Valimunzigha, K., Katsongo, K., 538 Ndemere,H., Kumar, L.P. (2014). First report of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* infecting maize in the

Democratic Republic of the Congo. Plant Dis. 98: 1448-1449.

Lumpkin, Thomas A. & Armstrong, Janice, (2009). "Staple Crops, Smallholder Farmers and Multinationals: The 'Water-Efficient Maize for Africa' Project," 2009: World Food Security: Can Private Sector R&D Feed the Poor?, 27-28 October 2009 125195, Crawford Fund.

- Magorokosho, C., B. Vivek and J. MacRobert. (2009). Characterization of maize germplasm grown in eastern and southern Africa: Results of the 2008 regional trials coordinated by CIMMYT, Harare, Zimbabwe. CIMMYT.
- Mahuku, G., Lockhart, B. E., Wanjala, B., Jones, M. W., Kimunye, J. N., Stewart, L. R.,
- Redinbaugh, . G. (2015). Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN), an Emerging Threat to Maize-Based Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa. Phytopathology, 105(7), 956– 965. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-12-14-0367-FI
- Makone, S. M., Menge, D., & Basweti, E. (2014). Impact of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease on Maize Yield: a Case of Kisii, Kenya. International Journal of Agricultural Extension, 2(3), 211–218. Retrieved from http://escijournals.net/index.php/IJAE/article/view/891
- Malik, S.I., H.N. Malik, N.M. Minhas and M. Munir (2004): General and specific combining ability studies in maize diallel crosses. Int. J. Agri. Biol., 6 (5), 856-859.
- Matsuoka, Y. Vigouroux, Y. Goodman, M. M. Sanchez, G.J. Buckler, E & Doebley, J. (2002). A single domestication for maize shown by multilocus merosatellite genotyping. Proceeding of the National Academy of Science 99:6080-6084.
- Maule, A.J., and Wang, D. (1996). Seed transmission of plant viruses: a lesson in biologicalcomplexity. Trends in Microbiol. 4: 153-158.
- Manyong, V. M., Alene, A. D., Olanrewaju, A., Ayedun, B., Rweyendela, V., Wesonga, A. S., Omanya, G., Mignouna, H. D. and Bokanga, M. (2007). Baseline Study of *Striga* Control Using IR Maize in Western Kenya. http://aatfafrica.org/userfiles/IRmaizestudy.pdf. Accessed on 30th April, 2013.
- MoA. (2013). Food security assessment report. March (2013). Department of Crops Management. Ministry of Agriculture. Republic of Kenya.
- Mbithi, L.M. and G. Van Huylenbroeck. (2000). A comparison of maize production in Kenya before and during liberalization period. Tropicultura 18: 181-186.
- Morales, F.J., Arroyave, J.A., Castillo, J., De Leon, C. (1999). Cytopathology of maize chloroticmottle virus in *Zea mays* L. Maydica 44: 231-235.

- Moritz, G., Brandt, S., Triapitsyn, S. and Subramanian, S. (2013). Identification and Information tools for pest thrips in East Africa. QAAFI Biological Information Technology (QBIT), The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia. ISBN 978-1-74272-0687-8http://thripsnet.zoologie.unihalle.de/key-server-neu/
- Muiru, W.M., E.W. Mutitu, J.W. Kimenju, B. Koopmann and A.V. Tiedemann. (2008). Infectious structures and response of maize plants to invasion by Exserohilum turcicum (Pass). in compatible and incompatible host pathogen systems. Journal of Applied Biosciences 10: 532-537.
- Mungoma, C. and L.M. Pollak, (1988). Heterotic patterns among ten cornbelt and exotic maize populations. *Crop Sci.*, 28: 500–4
- Murdoch, A.J., J.M. Njuguna, B. Lukuyu, F. Musembi, D.M. Mwangi, J.M. Maina, et al. (2013). Integrated pest management options to improve maize forage yield and quality for small-scale dairy farmers in central Kenya. Aspects of Applied Biology 70: 1-7.
- Muriithi, L. M. and Mutinda, C. J. M. (2001). Genetic variability of maize genotypes for resistance to *Exserohilum turcicum* in Kenya. South Eastern and Southern Africa regional Maize conference. 11th -15th February, 2001, 106-109.
- Murry, L.E., Elliott, L.G., Capitant, S.A., West, J.A., Hanson, K.K., Scarafia, L., Johnston,
- S.,Delucaflaherty, C., Nichols, S., Cunanan, D., Dietrich, P.S., Mettler, I.J., Dewald,
  S.Warnick, D.A., Rhodes, C., Sinibaldi, R.M., and Brunke, K.J. (1993).
  Transgenic corn plantsexpressing MDMV strain-B coat protein are resistant to
  mixed infections of maize-dwarfmosaic-virus and maize chlorotic mottle
  virus. Bio-Technology 11: 1559-1564.
- Mwangi, S.M. (1998). Status of northern Leaf Blight, Phaeosphaeria maydis leaf spot, southern leaf blight, rust, maize streak virus and physiologic specialization of Exserohilum turcicum in Kenya. PhD, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, USA.
- Nault, L. R., Negi, L. S., Niblett, C.L., Gordon, D. T., Styer, W. E., Coffey, M. E. (1978).Transmission of maize chlorotic mottle virus by chrysomelid beetles. Phytopathology 68:1071-1074.

- Nelson, S., Brewbaker, J., and Hu, J. (2011). Maize chlorotic mottle. PD-79. College of TropicalAgriculture and Human Resources, University of Hawaii at Manoa, pp. 1-6.
- Ngoune Tandzi, L., Mutengwa, C., Ngonkeu, E., & Gracen, V. (2018). Breeding Maize for Tolerance to Acidic Soils: A Review. *Agronomy*, 8(6), 84.
- Niblett, C. L., and Claflin, L. E. (1978). Corn lethal necrosis a new virus disease of corn inKansas. Plant Dis. Rep. 62: 15–19.
- Njuguna, J. G. M. (2001). Combating head smut of maize caused by *Sphaelotheca reliana* through resistance breeding. Seventh Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize conference.11th 15th February 2001. Pages 110-112.
- Nyasani, J.O., Meyhöfer, R., Subramanian, S., and Poehling, H.-M. (2012). Effect 561 of intercrops onthrips species composition and population abundance on French beans in Kenya. Entomologia ExperimentalisEtApplicata 142: 236-246.
- Nyoro, J. K., Kirimi, L., & Jayne, T. S. (2004). Competitiveness of Kenyan and Ugandan Maize Production: Challenges for the Future. Retrieved from http://agris.fao.org/openagris/search.do?recordID=US2016201728
- Nyvall, R. (1999). Field crop diseases (Third Edition). Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa.
- Olwade, J. and M. Smale. (2012). Is older better? Maize hybrid change on household farms in Kenya. Selected paper prepared for presentation at the International Association of Agricultural Economists (IAAE). Triennial Conference, Foz do Iguacu, Brazil, 18-24 August, 2012.
- Ontario Ministry of Agriculture and Food. (1994). Field Crop Recommendations. Publication 296.Queen's Printer for Ontario, Toronto, Ontario.
- Phillips, N.J., Uyemoto, J.K., and Wilson, D.L. (1982). Maize chlorotic mottle virus and Crop rotation: effect of sorghum on virus incidence. Plant Dis. 66: 376-379.

- Pingali, P.L. and Pandey, S. (2001) Meeting world maize needs: Technological opportunities and priorities for the public sector. CIMMYT 1999-2000 World Maize Facts and Trends Meeting World Maize Needs Technological Opportunities and Priorities for the Public Sector 2001.
- Pixley K, Palacios-Rojas N, Babu R, Mutale R, Surles R, Simpungwe E. (2013).
  Biofortification of maize with provitamin A carotenoids. Chapter 17 in Tanumihardjo S (ed) Carotenoids and Human Health. Springer Science and Business Media, NY.
- Redinbaugh, M.G., and Zambrano-Mendoza, J.L. (2014). Control of virus diseases in maize. Advances in Virus Research, 90: 391-429.
- Redinbaugh, M. G., & Pratt, R. C. (2009). Virus resistance. In Handbook of maize: Its Biology (pp. 251-270). Springer New York.
- Revilla, P., A. Butron, R.A. Malvar and A. Ordas, (1999). Relationship among kernel weight, early vigor and growth in maize. *Crop Sci.*, 39:654–8
- Revilla, P., R.A. Malvar, M.E. Cartea, P. Soengas and A. Ordas (2002): Heterotic relationships among European maize inbreds. Euphytica. *126*, 259-264.
- Riechmann, J. L., Lain, S., & García, J. A. (1992). Highlights and prospects of potyvirus molecular biology. *Journal of General Virology*, 73(1),
- Riley, D. G., Joseph, S. V., Srinivasan, R. and Diffie, S. (2011). Thrips vectors of tospoviruses.J. Integrated Pest Management, 2: I1-I10.
- Rodier, A., J. Assie, J.L. Marchand and Y. Herve. (1995). Breeding maize lines for complete and partial resistance to maize streak virus (MSV). Euphytica 81: 57-70
- Scheets, K. (1998). Maize chlorotic mottle machlomovirus and Wheat streak mosaic Rymovirus concentrations increase in the synergistic disease corn lethal necrosis. Virology 242: 28–38.
- Scheets, K. (2004). Maize chlorotic mottle. In Viruses and virus diseases of *Poaceae(Gramineae)*,H.
- Lapierre and P. A. Signoret (eds). Institut National de la RochercheAgronomique, Paris.pp. 642-644.

- Secanski, M., G. TodoroviC, G. Surlan-Momirovic, T. Zivanovic, M. Babic (2010): Inbred lines of different cycles of selection as donors of favorable alleles for the improvement of F-1 maize hybrids. Genetika, 42 (2), 339-348.
- Semagn, K., Babu, R., Hearne, S., Olsen, M. (2014). Single nucleotide polymorphism genotypingusing Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP): overview of the technology and its application in crop improvement. Molecular Breeding 33: 1-14.
- Shiferaw, B., Prasanna, B.M., Hellin, J. and Banziger, M. (2011). Crops that feed the world.Past Successes and future challenges to the role played by maize in global food security.Food Sec. 3: 307-327.
- Shukla, S. K., & Chandra, S. (1994). A generalized mechanical model for geosyntheticreinforced foundation soil. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, *13*(12), 813-825.
- Sibhatu, K. T., & Qaim, M. (2017). Rural food security, subsistence agriculture, and seasonality. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186406
- Sprague, G.F. and L.A. Tatum (1942): General vs. specific combining ability in single Crosses of corn. J. Amer. Soc. Agron., *34*, 923-932.
- Srdic, J., Z. Pajic and S. Drinic-Mladenovic. (2007). Inheritance of maize grain yield components. Maydica 52: 261-264.
- Stewart, L.R., Teplier, R., Todd, J.C., Jones, M.W., Cassone, B.C., Wijeratne, S., Wijeratne, A.,Redinbaugh, M.G. (2014). Viruses in maize and Johnsongrass in southern Ohio. Phytopathology.104: 1360-1369.
- Storey HH; Howland AK, (1967). Inheritance of resistance in maize to the virus of streak disease in East Africa. Annals of Applied Biology, 59:429-436.
- Tefera, T., S. Mugo, P. Likhayo and Y. Beyene, (2011). Resistance of three-way cross experimental maize hybrids to post-harvest insect pests, the larger grain borer (*Prostephanus truncatus*) and maize weevil (*Sitophilus zeamais*). Int. J. Trop. Insect Sci., 31: 3-12.CrossRef | Direct Link |

- Teyssandier, E. E., Dal Bo, E., and Nome, S. F. (1983). Maize virus diseases 584 in Argentina. *In* Proceedings, International Maize Virus Disease Colloquium and Workshop, 2–6 August1982, Wooster, OH. Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center, Wooster, OH.pp. 93–99.
- Thresh, J.M. (2006). Plant virus epidemiology: the concept of host genetic vulnerability. Adv.Virus Res. 67: 89-125.
- Twumasi-Afriyie, S., H. Zelleke, K. Yihun, B. Asefa and S. Tariku. (2001). Development and improvement of highland maize in Ethiopia. Proceedings of the 2nd national maize workshop of Ethiopia. November 12-16, 2001. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. pp 31-37
- Unay, A., H. Basal and C. Konak. (2004). Inheritance of grain yield in a half-diallel maize population. Turkish Journal for Agriculture and Forestry 28: 239-244.
- Uyemoto, J.K. (1983). Biology and control of maize chlorotic mottle virus. Plant Dis. 67:7-10.
- Uyemoto, J. K., Bockelman, D. L., and Claflin, L. E. (19800. Severe outbreak of corn Lethal necrosis disease in Kansas. Plant Dis. 64: 99–100.
- Uyemoto, J.K., Claflin, L.E., and Wilson, D.L. (1981). Maize chlorotic mottle and maize dwarfmosaic viruses: effect of single and double inoculations on symptomatology and yield. PlantDis. 65: 39-41.
- Van Rensburg, J.B.J. (2005). New streak resistant maize lines derived from the Vaalharts composite. South African Journal of Plant and Soil 22: 180-182.
- Vasal, S.K., G. Srinivasan, G.C. Han and C.F. Gonzales (1992): Heterotic patterns of eighty eight white subtropical CIMMYT maize lines. Maydica, *37*, 319-327.
- Vivek, B. S., Odongo, O., Njuguna, J., Imanywoha, J., Bigirwa, G., Diallo, A. and Pixley,
  K. (2010). Diallel analysis of grain yield and resistance to seven diseases of
  12 African maize (Zea mays L.) inbred lines. *Euphytica* 172: 329–340.
- Wang, Q., Zhou, X.P., and Wu, J.X. (2014). First report of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* Infecting sugarcane (*Saccharumofficinarum*). Plant Dis 98: 572.
- Wangai, A.W., Redinbaugh, M.G., Kinyua, Z.M., Mahuku, G., Sheets, K., and Jeffers, D. (2012).First report of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* and maize lethal necrosis in Kenya. Plant Dis.96: 1582.

- Wangai, A., Sikinyi, E., Ochieng, J., Miyogo, S., Karanja, T., Odour, H., Kimani, E., Irungu, J.,Kinyua, Z., Ngaruiya, P., Ligeyo, D., Kipkemboi, S. (2012a). Joint assessment report: Reporton status of Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease and general maize performance. Ministry ofAgriculture, Kenya http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/drought/docs/Maize%20Lethal%20 Necrotic%20Disease%20in%20Kenya\_Joint%20Assessment%20Report%20( July%202012).pdf.Accessed February 2015.
- Williams, L. E., & Alexander, L. J. (1965). Maize dwarf mosaic, a new Corn disease. *Phytopathology*, 55(7), 802-804.
- Xie, L., Zhang, J.Z., Wang, Q.A., Meng, C.M., Hong, J.A. and 607 Zhou, X.P. (2011). Characterization of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* associated with maize lethal necrosisdisease in China. J. Phytopathol. 159: 191–193.
- Xingming, F., T. Jing, H. Bihua and L. Feng (2001): Analyses of combining ability and heterotic groups of yellow grain quality protein maize inbreds. 7th Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize Conf., 11-15 February, 143-148.
- Xu, P., Zhao, C., & Zhang, Z. (2017). Identification of an RNA silencing suppressor encoded by Lily symptomless virus. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 19(5), 1259–1264. https://doi.org/10.17957/IJAB/15.0434
- Zambrano J.L., Jones M.W., Brenner E., Francis D.M., Tomas A. and Redinbaugh M.G. (2014).Genetic analysis of resistance to six virus diseases in a multiple virusresistant maize inbredline. Theoret. Appl. Genet. 127: 867-80.
- Zhang, C., Wu, Z., Li, Y., & Wu, J. (2015). Biogenesis, function, and applications of virus-derived small RNAs in plants. Frontiers in Microbiology, 6(NOV), 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01237
- Zhao, M., Ho, H., Wu, Y., He, Y., and Li, M. (2014). Western flower thrips (*Frankliniellaoccidentalis*) transmits *Maize chlorotic mottle virus*. J. Phytopathology. 162: 532-536.

Živanovic, T., S. Vuckovic, S. Prodanovic and G. Todorovic (2006): Evaluation of inbred lines as sources of new alleles for improving elite maize hybrid. Cereal Res. Comm., *34* (1), 941-948.

Appendix I – Data Collection Sheet	
------------------------------------	--

Sheet #							
Date/Time							
Name of area							
District/LGA							
State							
Agro-ecology							
Longitude							
Altitude (m)							
Summary							
Plant	Symptoms	Severity	P#	Photo ID	Symptoms	Severity.	Variety
(#)		score				Score	
1			1				
2			2				
3			3				
4			4				
5			5				
6							
7							
, 8							
0							
2							
10							
11							
12							
13							
14							
15							
16							
17							
18							
10							

19 20

## Abbreviations for describing symptoms:

Prefix: m – mild; o – moderate; s – severe; Suffix: m – mosaic; mo – mottling;; st – stunting; d – deformation; de – death

Severity rating criteria:

1. No symptoms seen; plants are disease free

2. mosaic mottling of leaves /branches of a plant (25% of the plant exhibiting symptoms)

3. necrosis or puckering of leaf veins clearing symptoms are on 50% of the plant

4. Severe mosaic/puckering/mottling/yellowing/necrosis (symptoms on entire plant) but no stunting of deformation

5. Severe mosaic/mottling/yellowing/necrosis and severe stunting (entire plant) deformation and death of the infected plants

	Disease Scores		Yield	1 T/Ha	
No.	Entry Code	D.Score	No.	Entry Code	YIELD/HA
1	SC-MLN-15-6	3	1	SC-MLN-15-15	1.922
2	SC-MLN-15-7	3	2	SC-MLN-15-81	1.583
3	SC-MLN-15-8	3	3	SC-MLN-15-102	1.447
4	SC-MLN-15-15	3	4	SC-MLN-15-3	1.407
5	SC-MLN-15-26	3	5	SC-MLN-15-7	1.328
6	SC-MLN-15-65	3	6	SC-MLN-15-37	1.277
7	SC-MLN-15-69	3	7	SC-MLN-15-20	1.259
8	SC-MLN-15-81	3	8	SC-MLN-15-72	1.18
9	SC-MLN-15-3	3.25	9	SC-MLN-15-17	1.14
10	SC-MLN-15-16	3.25	10	SC-MLN-15-69	1.14
11	SC-MLN-15-17	3.25	11	SC-MLN-15-26	1.118
12	SC-MLN-15-19	3.25	12	SC-MLN-15-107	1.118
13	SC-MLN-15-20	3.25	13	SC-MLN-15-19	1.106
14	SC-MLN-15-37	3.25	14	SC-MLN-15-2	1.072
15	SC-MLN-15-49	3.25	15	SC-MLN-15-98	1.067
16	SC-MLN-15-58	3.25	16	SC-MLN-15-70	1.05
17	SC-MLN-15-72	3.25	17	SC-MLN-15-83	1.044
18	SC-MLN-15-73	3.25	18	SC-MLN-15-65	1.038
19	SC-MLN-15-92	3.25	19	SC-MLN-15-6	1.016
20	SC-MLN-15-96	3.25	20	SC-MLN-15-82	1.01
21	SC-MLN-15-103	3.25	21	SC-MLN-15-8	0.999
22	SC-MLN-15-107	3.25	22	SC-MLN-15-111	0.981
23	SC-MLN-15-111	3.25	23	SC-MLN-15-57	0.976
24	SC-MLN-15-2	3.5	24	SC-MLN-15-97	0.97
25	SC-MLN-15-4	3.5	25	SC-MLN-15-106	0.964
26	SC-MLN-15-21	3.5	26	SC-MLN-15-16	0.947
27	SC-MLN-15-25	3.5	27	SC-MLN-15-55	0.947

Appendix II- Disease and Yield (T/HA) Score (Naivasha)

28	SC-MLN-15-27	3.5	28	SC-MLN-15-67	0.947
29	SC-MLN-15-30	3.5	29	SC-MLN-15-59	0.936
30	SC-MLN-15-31	3.5	30	SC-MLN-15-48	0.919
31	SC-MLN-15-33	3.5	31	SC-MLN-15-10	0.913
32	SC-MLN-15-35	3.5	32	SC-MLN-15-88	0.908
33	SC-MLN-15-38	3.5	33	SC-MLN-15-92	0.908
34	SC-MLN-15-40	3.5	34	SC-MLN-15-80	0.896
35	SC-MLN-15-42	3.5	35	SC-MLN-15-36	0.891
36	SC-MLN-15-43	3.5	36	SC-MLN-15-100	0.891
37	SC-MLN-15-45	3.5	37	SC-MLN-15-105	0.879
38	SC-MLN-15-46	3.5	38	SC-MLN-15-42	0.874
39	SC-MLN-15-47	3.5	39	SC-MLN-15-30	0.862
40	SC-MLN-15-48	3.5	40	SC-MLN-15-58	0.84
41	SC-MLN-15-52	3.5	41	SC-MLN-15-49	0.823
42	SC-MLN-15-55	3.5	42	SC-MLN-15-90	0.823
43	SC-MLN-15-56	3.5	43	SC-MLN-15-96	0.823
44	SC-MLN-15-57	3.5	44	SC-MLN-15-54	0.811
45	SC-MLN-15-59	3.5	45	SC-MLN-15-84	0.8
46	SC-MLN-15-62	3.5	46	SC-MLN-15-14	0.794
47	SC-MLN-15-63	3.5	47	SC-MLN-15-68	0.794
48	SC-MLN-15-64	3.5	48	SC-MLN-15-44	0.777
49	SC-MLN-15-66	3.5	49	SC-MLN-15-29	0.772
50	SC-MLN-15-67	3.5	50	SC-MLN-15-47	0.766
51	SC-MLN-15-68	3.5	51	SC-MLN-15-46	0.755
52	SC-MLN-15-70	3.5	52	SC-MLN-15-75	0.749
53	SC-MLN-15-74	3.5	53	SC-MLN-15-104	0.749
54	SC-MLN-15-78	3.5	54	SC-MLN-15-87	0.743
55	SC-MLN-15-79	3.5	55	SC-MLN-15-12	0.732
56	SC-MLN-15-80	3.5	56	SC-MLN-15-40	0.726
57	SC-MLN-15-82	3.5	57	SC-MLN-15-45	0.721
58	SC-MLN-15-83	3.5	58	SC-MLN-15-28	0.715

59	SC-MLN-15-85	3.5	59	SC-MLN-15-32	0.715
60	SC-MLN-15-89	3.5	60	SC-MLN-15-56	0.715
61	SC-MLN-15-90	3.5	61	SC-MLN-15-4	0.709
62	SC-MLN-15-97	3.5	62	SC-MLN-15-52	0.709
63	SC-MLN-15-98	3.5	63	SC-MLN-15-51	0.703
64	SC-MLN-15-99	3.5	64	SC-MLN-15-74	0.692
65	SC-MLN-15-100	3.5	65	SC-MLN-15-73	0.675
66	SC-MLN-15-102	3.5	66	SC-MLN-15-79	0.669
67	SC-MLN-15-104	3.5	67	SC-MLN-15-66	0.664
68	SC-MLN-15-106	3.5	68	SC-MLN-15-11	0.647
69	SC-MLN-15-108	3.5	69	SC-MLN-15-91	0.647
70	CHECK 1	3.5	70	SC-MLN-15-50	0.641
71	CHECK 2	3.5	71	SC-MLN-15-41	0.635
72	CHECK 4	3.5	72	SC-MLN-15-85	0.635
73	CHECK 5	3.5	73	SC-MLN-15-103	0.635
74	CHECK 6	3.5	74	SC-MLN-15-1	0.624
75	CHECK 7	3.5	75	SC-MLN-15-78	0.618
76	CHECK 8	3.5	76	SC-MLN-15-27	0.613
77	CHECK 9	3.5	77	SC-MLN-15-35	0.613
78	SC-MLN-15-1	3.75	78	SC-MLN-15-43	0.613
79	SC-MLN-15-5	3.75	79	SC-MLN-15-39	0.601
80	SC-MLN-15-9	3.75	80	SC-MLN-15-18	0.596
81	SC-MLN-15-10	3.75	81	SC-MLN-15-38	0.596
82	SC-MLN-15-11	3.75	82	SC-MLN-15-93	0.596
83	SC-MLN-15-12	3.75	83	SC-MLN-15-22	0.573
84	SC-MLN-15-13	3.75	84	SC-MLN-15-64	0.567
85	SC-MLN-15-14	3.75	85	SC-MLN-15-23	0.562
86	SC-MLN-15-18	3.75	86	SC-MLN-15-9	0.528
87	SC-MLN-15-23	3.75	87	SC-MLN-15-110	0.522
88	SC-MLN-15-24	3.75	88	SC-MLN-15-24	0.516
89	SC-MLN-15-28	3.75	89	SC-MLN-15-5	0.499

90	SC-MLN-15-29	3.75	90	SC-MLN-15-13	0.499
91	SC-MLN-15-32	3.75	91	SC-MLN-15-34	0.494
92	SC-MLN-15-34	3.75	92	SC-MLN-15-99	0.488
93	SC-MLN-15-36	3.75	93	SC-MLN-15-53	0.482
94	SC-MLN-15-39	3.75	94	SC-MLN-15-76	0.477
95	SC-MLN-15-41	3.75	95	SC-MLN-15-21	0.465
96	SC-MLN-15-44	3.75	96	SC-MLN-15-25	0.46
97	SC-MLN-15-50	3.75	97	SC-MLN-15-60	0.46
98	SC-MLN-15-51	3.75	98	SC-MLN-15-109	0.454
99	SC-MLN-15-53	3.75	99	SC-MLN-15-62	0.448
100	SC-MLN-15-54	3.75	100	SC-MLN-15-63	0.431
101	SC-MLN-15-60	3.75	101	SC-MLN-15-71	0.42
102	SC-MLN-15-61	3.75	102	SC-MLN-15-86	0.397
103	SC-MLN-15-71	3.75	103	SC-MLN-15-94	0.397
104	SC-MLN-15-75	3.75	104	SC-MLN-15-108	0.397
105	SC-MLN-15-76	3.75	105	SC-MLN-15-101	0.386
106	SC-MLN-15-84	3.75	106	SC-MLN-15-61	0.374
107	SC-MLN-15-86	3.75	107	SC-MLN-15-31	0.357
108	SC-MLN-15-87	3.75	108	SC-MLN-15-95	0.323
109	SC-MLN-15-88	3.75	109	SC-MLN-15-89	0.306
110	SC-MLN-15-91	3.75	110	SC-MLN-15-33	0.267
111	SC-MLN-15-93	3.75	111	SC-MLN-15-77	0.221
112	SC-MLN-15-95	3.75	112	CHECK 1	0.811
113	SC-MLN-15-105	3.75	113	CHECK 2	0.709
114	SC-MLN-15-109	3.75	114	CHECK 3	0.584
115	SC-MLN-15-110	3.75	115	CHECK 4	0.397
116	CHECK 3	3.75	116	CHECK 5	0.743
117	SC-MLN-15-22	4	117	CHECK 6	0.601
118	SC-MLN-15-77	4	118	CHECK 7	0.874
119	SC-MLN-15-94	4	119	CHECK 8	0.777
120	SC-MLN-15-101	4	120	CHECK 9	0.635

REP		PLOT No.	ENTRY. No.	ENTRY CODE	D. SCORE	YIELD
						SCORE(T/HA)
	1	1	102	SC-MLN-15-102	2.8	0.75
	1	2	105	SC-MLN-15-105	3	1.04
	1	3	111	SC-MLN-15-111	3.2	0.98
	1	4	82	SC-MLN-15-82	3	0.47
	1	5	7	SC-MLN-15-7	3	1.03
	1	6	21	SC-MLN-15-21	2.8	0.41
	1	7	17	SC-MLN-15-17	3.2	1.17
	1	8	87	SC-MLN-15-87	3.8	0.33
	1	9	47	SC-MLN-15-47	3.2	0.60
	1	10	13	SC-MLN-15-13	3.2	0.36
	1	11	75	SC-MLN-15-75	3.5	0.31
	1	12	95	SC-MLN-15-95	3.5	0.74
	1	13	97	SC-MLN-15-97	3.8	1.21
	1	14	12	SC-MLN-15-12	3	0.65
	1	15	53	SC-MLN-15-53	2.8	0.75
	1	16	29	SC-MLN-15-29	2.5	0.61
	1	17	85	SC-MLN-15-85	2.8	0.99
	1	18	25	SC-MLN-15-25	3	1.30
	1	19	44	SC-MLN-15-44	3	0.23
	1	20	40	SC-MLN-15-40	3.5	0.65
	1	21	80	SC-MLN-15-80	2.8	0.58
	1	22	94	SC-MLN-15-94	2.8	1.52
	1	23	108	SC-MLN-15-108	3.2	0.67
	1	24	104	SC-MLN-15-104	3	1.10
	1	25	43	SC-MLN-15-43	2.8	0.68
	1	26	3	SC-MLN-15-3	2.5	0.52

### Appendix III: Disease Score for Bomet

 1	27	46	SC-MLN-15-46	3	0.56
1	28	101	SC-MLN-15-101	3	0.74
1	29	57	SC-MLN-15-57	3.5	0.30
1	30	28	SC-MLN-15-28	2.8	0.35
1	31	90	SC-MLN-15-90	3	0.57
1	32	5	SC-MLN-15-5	2.8	0.50
1	33	9	SC-MLN-15-9	3	1.37
1	34	59	SC-MLN-15-59	3.8	0.68
1	35	18	SC-MLN-15-18	3	0.17
1	36	65	SC-MLN-15-65	2.8	0.75
1	37	62	SC-MLN-15-62	2.8	0.22
1	38	73	SC-MLN-15-73	3	0.48
1	39	107	SC-MLN-15-107	3	0.86
1	40	110	SC-MLN-15-110	3	1.20
1	41	35	SC-MLN-15-35	3.5	0.51
1	42	117	SC-MLN-15-117	3	1.40
1	43	23	SC-MLN-15-23	2.5	0.28
1	44	20	SC-MLN-15-20	3.5	0.51
1	45	45	SC-MLN-15-45	3	0.54
1	46	76	SC-MLN-15-76	3.5	0.40
1	47	71	SC-MLN-15-71	3.5	0.35
1	48	86	SC-MLN-15-86	3.8	0.58
1	49	30	SC-MLN-15-30	3	0.30
1	50	99	SC-MLN-15-99	2.8	0.71
1	51	15	SC-MLN-15-15	3	0.41
1	52	116	SC-MLN-15-116	2.8	0.34
1	53	78	SC-MLN-15-78	3	0.99
1	54	91	SC-MLN-15-91	3.5	0.42
1	55	63	SC-MLN-15-63	2.5	0.23
1	56	68	SC-MLN-15-68	2.8	0.75
1	57	19	SC-MLN-15-19	3	0.22

1	58	106	SC-MLN-15-106	2.8	1.03
1	59	120	SC-MLN-15-120	2.8	0.32
1	60	112	SC-MLN-15-112	3	0.56
1	61	4	SC-MLN-15-4	3.5	0.96
1	62	115	SC-MLN-15-115	3.8	1.07
1	63	93	SC-MLN-15-93	3.8	0.44
1	64	60	SC-MLN-15-60	3.2	0.33
1	65	88	SC-MLN-15-88	3	1.68
1	66	10	SC-MLN-15-10	3	0.73
1	67	38	SC-MLN-15-38	3.2	0.27
1	68	52	SC-MLN-15-52	3	0.64
1	69	58	SC-MLN-15-58	3	1.21
1	70	6	SC-MLN-15-6	3	1.13
1	71	67	SC-MLN-15-67	2.8	0.71
1	72	79	SC-MLN-15-79	2.8	0.84
1	73	61	SC-MLN-15-61	2.5	0.89
1	74	42	SC-MLN-15-42	3.5	1.28
1	75	72	SC-MLN-15-72	3.5	1.04
1	76	66	SC-MLN-15-66	3.2	0.70
1	77	1	SC-MLM-15-1	3.8	0.90
1	78	39	SC-MLN-15-39	3.8	1.45
1	79	54	SC-MLN-15-54	2.8	0.58
1	80	31	SC-MLN-15-31	3	0.69
1	81	37	SC-MLN-15-37	3	1.01
1	82	64	SC-MLN-15-64	3	1.91
1	83	32	SC-MLN-15-32	3	0.25
1	84	50	SC-MLN-15-50	3.8	0.57
1	85	22	SC-MLN-15-22	3	0.84
1	86	34	SC-MLN-15-34	3.2	0.42
1	87	92	SC-MLN-15-92	3.5	0.66
1	88	49	SC-MLN-15-49	3	0.47

1	89	14	SC-MLN-15-14	2.8	0.75
1	90	81	SC-MLN-15-81	2.8	1.17
1	91	103	SC-MLN-15-103	3	0.95
1	92	83	SC-MLN-15-83	3	1.09
1	93	26	SC-MLN-15-26	3	0.73
1	94	69	SC-MLN-15-69	2.8	0.69
1	95	84	SC-MLN-15-84	3	1.17
1	96	118	SC-MLN-15-118	2.8	0.12
1	97	109	SC-MLN-15-109	3.5	0.83
1	98	51	SC-MLN-15-51	3.2	0.75
1	99	98	SC-MLN-15-98	3	0.11
1	100	11	SC-MLN-15-11	3.5	0.60
1	101	100	SC-MLN-15-100	3	0.71
1	102	2	SC-MLN-15-2	3	0.76
1	103	48	SC-MLN-15-48	2.8	1.06
1	104	74	SC-MLN-15-74	3	0.69
1	105	96	SC-MLN-15-96	3	0.37
1	106	8	SC-MLN-15-8	2.8	0.82
1	107	27	SC-MLN-15-27	3	1.55
1	108	119	SC-MLN-15-119	3	1.12
1	109	33	SC-MLN-15-33	3.5	1.10
1	110	89	SC-MLN-15-89	3	1.33
1	111	24	SC-MLN-15-24	3	0.18
1	112	70	SC-MLN-15-70	3	0.50
1	113	55	SC-MLN-15-55	2.8	0.99
1	114	36	SC-MLN-15-36	2.8	0.36
1	115	41	SC-MLN-15-41	3	0.82
1	116	114	SC-MLN-15-114	3	1.91
1	117	56	SC-MLN-15-56	2.8	1.44
1	118	16	SC-MLN-15-16	3.2	0.34
1	119	77	SC-MLN-15-77	3.2	1.12

-	1	120	113	SC-MLN-15-113	3.2	0.18
	2	1	89	SC-MLN-15-89	2.8	0.87
	2	2	67	SC-MLN-15-67	2.8	0.57
	2	3	74	SC-MLN-15-74	2.8	0.65
	2	4	106	SC-MLN-15-106	2.5	0.78
	2	5	71	SC-MLN-15-71	2.5	0.64
	2	6	4	SC-MLN-15-4	2.8	0.99
	2	7	64	SC-MLN-15-64	3	1.78
	2	8	75	SC-MLN-15-75	2.8	0.71
	2	9	2	SC-MLN-15-2	3	1.00
	2	10	5	SC-MLN-15-5	2.5	1.33
	2	11	81	SC-MLN-15-81	3	1.02
	2	12	3	SC-MLN-15-3	2	0.47
	2	13	115	SC-MLN-15-115	3	1.09
	2	14	62	SC-MLN-15-62	3	1.27
	2	15	24	SC-MLN-15-24	2.8	1.50
	2	16	18	SC-MLN-15-18	2.8	0.87
	2	17	57	SC-MLN-15-57	3	0.93
	2	18	60	SC-MLN-15-60	2.8	0.52
	2	19	23	SC-MLN-15-23	2.5	0.81
	2	20	112	SC-MLN-15-112	2.8	1.75
	2	21	46	SC-MLN-15-46	2.5	0.18
	2	22	99	SC-MLN-15-99	3	0.47
	2	23	86	SC-MLN-15-86	3.2	1.65
	2	24	34	SC-MLN-15-34	2.8	0.84
	2	25	19	SC-MLN-15-19	3	1.15
	2	26	15	SC-MLN-15-15	2.8	0.73
	2	27	95	SC-MLN-15-95	2.8	0.58
	2	28	96	SC-MLN-15-96	2.8	0.42
	2	29	20	SC-MLN-15-20	3.2	1.18
	2	30	10	SC-MLN-15-10	3	0.58

2	31	58	SC-MLN-15-58	3.2	0.89
2	32	11	SC-MLN-15-11	3.5	0.56
2	33	21	SC-MLN-15-21	2.8	0.39
2	34	49	SC-MLN-15-49	2.5	0.51
2	35	53	SC-MLN-15-53	2.8	0.37
2	36	13	SC-MLN-15-13	3	0.17
2	37	82	SC-MLN-15-82	3	0.34
2	38	87	SC-MLN-15-87	3	1.40
2	39	41	SC-MLN-15-41	2.8	0.85
2	40	37	SC-MLN-15-37	2.8	0.87
2	41	33	SC-MLN-15-33	2.8	0.36
2	42	36	SC-MLN-15-36	3	1.34
2	43	113	SC-MLN-15-113	3	0.31
2	44	50	SC-MLN-15-50	3.5	0.73
2	45	39	SC-MLN-15-39	2.8	0.26
2	46	88	SC-MLN-15-88	3	0.75
2	47	30	SC-MLN-15-30	3.5	0.41
2	48	92	SC-MLN-15-92	2.8	0.98
2	49	93	SC-MLN-15-93	3	0.67
2	50	76	SC-MLN-15-76	3.5	1.18
2	51	110	SC-MLN-15-110	3	0.64
2	52	97	SC-MLN-15-97	2.8	0.83
2	53	17	SC-MLN-15-17	3	0.43
2	54	101	SC-MLN-15-101	3.5	0.65
2	55	68	SC-MLN-15-68	3	0.83
2	56	119	SC-MLN-15-19	3.5	1.26
2	57	32	SC-MLN-15-32	3.5	0.31
2	58	14	SC-MLN-15-14	2.8	0.95
2	59	107	SC-MLN-15-107	3	0.73
2	60	103	SC-MLN-15-103	3	1.53
2	61	29	SC-MLN-15-29	2.8	0.74

2	62	45	SC-MLN-15-45	3	0.94
2	63	27	SC-MLN-15-29	3.8	0.60
2	64	118	SC-MLN-15-118	3	0.79
2	65	54	SC-MLN-15-54	*	0.53
2	66	56	SC-MLN-15-56	3.5	0.42
2	67	84	SC-MLN-15-84	4	0.25
2	68	9	SC-MLN-15-9	3.2	1.10
2	69	61	SC-MLN-15-61	3	*
2	70	70	SC-MLN-15-70	3.5	0.75
2	71	59	SC-MLN-15-59	3.5	0.52
2	72	100	SC-MLN-15-100	2.8	0.73
2	73	63	SC-MLN-15-63	2.8	0.43
2	74	104	SC-MLN-15-104	3.5	0.23
2	75	35	SC-MLN-15-35	3.8	1.82
2	76	72	SC-MLN-15-72	3.5	0.51
2	77	28	SC-MLN-15-28	3.5	0.70
2	78	52	SC-MLN-15-52	3	1.11
2	79	80	SC-MLN-15-80	3	1.16
2	80	105	SC-MLN-15-105	3.5	0.78
2	81	55	SC-MLN-15-55	3	0.78
2	82	43	SC-MLN-15-43	2.8	0.22
2	83	111	SC-MLN-15-111	3	0.32
2	84	73	SC-MLN-15-73	3	0.62
2	85	69	SC-MLN-15-69	3	0.25
2	86	85	SC-MLN-15-85	3	0.54
2	87	117	SC-MLN-15-117	3.2	0.68
2	88	16	SC-MLN-15-16	2.8	0.37
2	89	47	SC-MLN-15-47	3.2	0.47
2	90	6	SC-MLN-15-6	3	0.75
2	91	79	SC-MLN-15-79	3.5	0.75
2	92	120	SC-MLN-15-120	3	0.61

2	93	25	SC-MLN-15-25	2.8	0.87
2	94	77	SC-MLN-15-77	3.2	1.54
2	95	22	SC-MLN-15-22	3.2	1.09
2	96	66	SC-MLN-15-66	3.2	1.03
2	97	8	SC-MLN-15-8	3	0.76
2	98	98	SC-MLN-15-98	2.8	0.54
2	99	48	SC-MLN-15-48	3	0.40
2	100	94	SC-MLN-15-94	3	0.27
2	101	109	SC-MLN-15-109	3	1.13
2	102	7	SC-MLN-15-7	3.2	0.77
2	103	83	SC-MLN-15-83	3.5	0.32
2	104	12	SC-MLN-15-12	3.2	0.68
2	105	40	SC-MLN-15-40	3	1.21
2	106	90	SC-MLN-15-90	3	0.44
2	107	38	SC-MLN-15-38	3	0.60
2	108	51	SC-MLN-15-51	3.2	0.64
2	109	114	SC-MLN-15-114	3.2	1.61
2	110	78	SC-MLN-15-78	3.2	0.57
2	111	44	SC-MLN-15-44	3.5	0.78
2	112	91	SC-MLN-15-91	3	0.49
2	113	102	SC-MLN-15-102	3	0.54
2	114	42	SC-MLN-15-42	3	0.58
2	115	65	SC-MLN-15-65	4	0.79
2	116	116	SC-MLN-15-116	3.5	0.83
2	117	1	SC-MLN-15-1	3.5	0.93
2	118	26	SC-MLN-15-26	4	0.91
2	119	108	SC-MLN-15-108	*	0.89
2	120	31	SC-MLN-15-31	4.5	0.59

Source	d.f.		S.S.	m.s.	v.r.		F pr.	
REP		1	0.0038	0.0038		0.04	0.851	
Variety		120	14.4801	0.1207		1.14	0.237	NS
Residual		116	12.259	0.1057				
Total		237	26.7429	0.1128				
	LSD		0.5257			5%	0.05	

Appendix IV: Combined Analysis Of Variance for Disease Score (Bomet)

### Coefficient of variation and standard error of a single unit

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
REP	1	10.76312	10.76312	193.72	0.046
<b>REP.Variety</b>	237	181.4037	0.76542	13.78	0.209
Residual	1	0.05556	0.05556		
Total	239	192.2223			
	LSD	0.387			
	Variate: Yi				
	d.f.	s.e.	cv%		
	1	0.236	13.4		

# Appendix V: Combined Analysis for Yield (Bomet)

Appendix VI: Combined Analy	vsis for Yield (	(T/HA) (	(Naivasha)
-----------------------------	------------------	----------	------------

Variate:	_				
YIELD_T_HA	_				
Source of	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
variation					
REP stratum	1	0.0601	0.0601	0.44	
REP.*Units* sti	ratum				
ENTRY	119	18.9705	0.1594	1.17	0.198
Residual	118	16.0896	0.1364		
Total	238	33.7256			
l.s.d.	0.7312				
C.V.	48.6				



#### APPENDIX VII: SIMILARITY INDEX/ANTI-PLAGIARISM REPORT

Turnitin

89

l of 49